Click here to view this article's online features:

ANNUAL Further

- Download figures as PPT slides
  Navigate linked references
- Download citations
- Explore related articles
- Search keywords

## The Heidelberg Screen for Pattern Mutants of *Drosophila*: A Personal Account

### Eric Wieschaus<sup>1</sup> and Christiane Nüsslein-Volhard<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Molecular Biology, Princeton University, Princeton, New Jersey 08544; email: efw@princeton.edu

<sup>2</sup>Max-Planck-Institut f
ür Entwicklungsbiologie, 72076 T
übingen, Germany; email: cnv@tuebingen.mpg.de

Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 2016. 32:1-46

First published online as a Review in Advance on August 3, 2016

The Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology is online at cellbio.annualreviews.org

This article's doi: 10.1146/annurev-cellbio-113015-023138

Copyright © 2016 by Annual Reviews. All rights reserved

#### Keywords

pattern formation, *Drosophila*, saturation screens, larval cuticle, embryonic lethal mutations

#### Abstract

In large-scale mutagenesis screens performed in 1979–1980 at the EMBL in Heidelberg, we isolated mutations affecting the pattern or structure of the larval cuticle in *Drosophila*. The 600 mutants we characterized could be assigned to 120 genes and represent the majority of such genes in the genome. These mutants subsequently provided a rich resource for understanding many fundamental developmental processes, such as the transcriptional hierarchies controlling segmentation, the establishment of cell states by signaling pathways, and the differentiation of epithelial cells. Most of the Heidelberg genes are now molecularly known, and many of them are conserved in other animals, including humans. Although the screens were initially driven entirely by curiosity, the mutants now serve as models for many human diseases. In this review, we describe the rationale of the screening procedures and provide a classification of the genes on the basis of their initial phenotypes and the subsequent molecular analyses.

#### Contents

INTRODUCTION	2
The Dawn of Developmental Genetics	2
Drosophila	3
THE HEIDELBERG SCREEN	4
Rationale	4
Mutagenesis and Scoring	8
Complementation and Mapping	11
Limits of the Heidelberg Screen	12
THE GENE CLASSES	14
The Anterior-Posterior Genes	14
The Dorsal-Ventral Genes	23
The Epidermis Genes	25
MOLECULAR BIOLOGY	25
Transcriptional Control	29
Cell Signaling Pathways	35
Cellular Differentiation	36
IMPACT OF THE SCREEN	37

#### **INTRODUCTION**

#### The Dawn of Developmental Genetics

By the beginning of the twentieth century, it had been recognized that the final pattern of cell differentiation in the embryo was established through a gradual process during which initially simple patterns were elaborated to achieve increasingly greater complexity. The morphological steps that produced this complexity were reproducible from one embryo to the next, but the underlying mechanisms were unknown. On the basis of the observable polarity in sea urchin and nematode eggs, the German zoologist Theodor Boveri suggested that initial cell decisions might depend on a graded distribution of some substance in the egg such that different amounts of that substance would be included in the different cells formed through cleavage (Boveri 1901). Genetic material (i.e., chromosomes), in contrast, appeared to be distributed equally among cells during cleavage. In a famous experiment, Boveri demonstrated that loss of individual chromosomes caused specific developmental defects in particular differentiation pathways (Boveri 1902; see Wilson 1925). These experiments showed that the abstract Mendelian factors, subsequently referred to as genes, were localized on individual chromosomes, and provided the foundation for the chromosomal theory of inheritance. The central ideas that emerge from Boveri's view of development are that spatial patterns are present as polar distributions of morphogenetic substances from the earliest stages, that these patterns are simple, and that the subsequent activity of genes on chromosomes builds the ultimate functional patterns in the final organism.

What these genes were and how they controlled development were unknown and beyond the reach of the technology available at the time. The strategies pursued by biological researchers after Boveri focused largely on either genetics or development. They aimed to find out more about genes and their organization on chromosomes (Morgan 1933) or to identify substances providing pattern

and polarity to the embryo. The discovery of the organizer region in the newt embryo by Boveri's student Spemann provided evidence for sequential induction of cell fate in the amphibian embryo (Spemann 1935). These observations generated great excitement but were followed by years of frustrating attempts to purify factors involved in particular developmental decisions. One major problem was the nature of assays for cell patterning available at the time. These assays generally involved the application of substances or embryonic extracts to fragments of tissue deprived of the intrinsic factor. Even when such experiments "worked," they often gave positive results with compounds that could not possibly have had a biological role. Development seemed infinitely complex and the experiments much too crude and unavoidably accompanied by unwanted side effects. Another problem in developmental biology during this period was that scientists worked on many different organisms, each chosen for a specific experimental advantage or an exciting phenomenon. A classic textbook (Kühn 1965) describes work on algae, frogs, newts, sea urchins, ascidians, daphnids, nematodes, planarians, slime molds, snails, chicken, hydra, crickets, moths, flies, midges, and grasshoppers. The individual communities were small, and the experimental approaches used were very different, such that the results were usually not comparable and did not easily lead to unifying theories of development. In the 1950s, the discovery of the double helix and the excitement of molecular biology of bacteria and bacteriophages pushed research into fields other than developmental biology and led Watson in a famous textbook (Watson 1965) to question whether "we have sufficient background at this time to attack embryology at a molecular level." Nevertheless, theoreticians, on the basis of regeneration experiments with the polyp hydra, proposed the concept of positional information (Wolpert 1969). A theory based on self-enhancement and lateral inhibition could explain the formation of stable patterns from near uniformity with plausible parameters (Gierer & Meinhardt 1972). These models assumed that complexity could arise from morphogen gradients eliciting different responses at different concentrations. But the molecular nature of such morphogens and the response to them remained elusive.

The beginning of the twentieth century also saw the rediscovery of Mendel's laws and the birth of modern genetics (Mendel 1866). Although not appreciated by most developmental biologists, genetic methods would ultimately provide a way to interfere specifically with a developing organism without causing gross disturbances. A mutation allows one to completely deplete a single component in a complex system while leaving everything else intact. Systematic mutant screens had been instrumental in identifying members of biochemical pathways in bacteria and fungi (Beadle & Tatum 1941). In bacteria, the identification of mutations in the *cis*- and *trans*-acting regulatory elements of genes played a crucial role in the biochemical isolation of transcriptional repressors (Jacob & Monod 1961). The identification of key players in the control of the cell cycle by systematic mutant screens in yeast provided another example of the powers of genetic analysis (Hartwell et al. 1970, Nurse 1975). The same strategy might also work for development. If mutations in genes controlling specific activities in the embryo could be found, it might even be possible to identify their protein products and thus gain insights into the biochemical mechanisms controlling developmental decisions.

#### Drosophila

In the mid-1970s, Brenner chose the nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans* to initiate studies of neural development and function (Brenner 1974). To us, however, *Drosophila* seemed the best choice for applying genetics to problems of developmental biology. The rich morphological features of the adult stages had allowed easy recognition of mutants and had made *Drosophila* the multicellular

organism in which the basic principles of chromosomal inheritance had been worked out. It has only four chromosomes and many viable marker mutants and special chromosomes that allow for the easy breeding of lethal and sterile mutations (Lindsley & Grell 1968). Although the Hadorn group had realized the importance of vital genes for development (Hadorn 1955), most of the genes studied until the mid-1970s were related to structures of the adult fly such as eye color, body pigmentation, bristles, and wing size and shape (Morgan 1933). A small number of mutations that produced alteration in the development of adult structures had also been identified. The bestcharacterized mutations were in homeotic genes, which cause transformation of one region of the body into another, such as antennal structures to legs or wings to halteres (Kaufmann et al. 1980, Lewis 1978). Genes such as the homeotics had fascinated scientists for a long time. Other mutants affecting pattern in the wing and color of the eyes had also been analyzed in some detail (Beadle & Ephrussi 1937). The structures of the adult fly derive from groups of cells termed imaginal discs that are set aside early in embryonic development (Gehring & Nöthiger 1973). These discs could be cultivated in the abdomen of the adult fly and, after transplantation into a larva, were able to differentiate into the cuticle structures of the respective disc (Hadorn 1963, Schubiger & Hadorn 1968). The exact relationship between these discs and the determinative events in the embryo was unclear, largely because little was known about development in the embryo. The adult cuticle structures obtained when cells from embryos were cultured using the same protocols used to culture imaginal discs suggested that a crude distinction between anterior and posterior development already existed in early embryonic stages (Chan & Gehring 1971). Clones induced by mitotic recombination indicated that blastoderm cells could still give rise to wing and leg structures within the same segment, although not to structures in adjacent segments (Wieschaus & Gehring 1976), suggesting that anterior-posterior (AP) distinctions might be sufficiently detailed to specify segments. Owing to the small size of Drosophila embryos and the high turgor of the eggs, testing such models experimentally seemed much more difficult than in other insect eggs such as those of Euscelis (Sander 1976). The famous demonstration of a localized pole-cell determinant by cytoplasmic transplantation (Illmensee & Mahowald 1974) raised hopes, however, that such determinants could also exist for somatic structures such as the imaginal discs and that procedures could be developed for their isolation.

Nevertheless, a group of scientists centered around the embryologist Donald Poulson at Yale had begun to describe embryonic development of *Drosophila* in some detail (Poulson 1937, 1950), and lethal mutants that affected embryonic development had begun to be studied (Wright 1970). The number of such mutations was small, but some of them displayed phenotypes that seemed sufficiently specific to suggest that a genetic analysis of embryonic development might be feasible.

#### THE HEIDELBERG SCREEN

#### Rationale

We set out to study the genetics of *Drosophila* development, focusing on the larva, because it is the direct result of embryogenesis and has a very different morphology than does the adult fly. This simpler, regularly segmented, headless form develops within 24 h and is endowed with a number of cuticle structures indicating pattern and polarity (**Figure 1**). Our analysis was based on the assumption that there would be two sets of genes required for larval patterning. Maternal genes would be expressed in the female during oogenesis and would provide components required for embryonic development already in the egg. Zygotic genes would supply components by transcription in the embryo (**Figure 2**). Mutations in both classes would cause lethality in the embryo and



Cuticle preparation of a *Drosophila* first-instar larva. (*a*) Dark-field image of the ventral side. (*b*) Phase-contrast detail of the ventral (*top*) and the dorsal (*bottom*) aspect of the posterior thorax and the first abdominal segment.

display a phenotype visible in the larval structures. To understand the logic behind the process of determination and differentiation, as well as to estimate the complexity of the system and the types of decision during early development, we believed that it was necessary to find out how many genes are involved in embryonic pattern formation, whether each of these genes is unique, and what types of pattern alterations can be caused by a mutation in a single gene. Our plan therefore was to use large-scale mutagenesis experiments to identify most, if not all, genes of both classes affecting embryonic developmental decisions on the basis of visible mutant phenotypes in the larva.

To test the feasibility of using genetics to identify such genes, we first studied mutants that were available at the time. A fascinating maternal mutation, *bicaudal*, causes the formation of larvae with two rear ends in mirror-image symmetry, albeit with erratic and low penetrance (Bull 1966, Nüsslein-Volhard 1977). In a pilot screen, a new maternal mutant, *dorsal*, was discovered with very



Genetics of embryonic patterning. Maternal and zygotic genes can be distinguished by their genetic behavior. (*Left panel*) All embryos from females that are homozygous mutant for maternally active genes are abnormal, even when crossed with wild-type males. (*Middle panel*) Although the genotype of the resultant embryos is the same as that in the reciprocal cross, in which wild-type females are crossed with mutant males, all embryos are normal. (*Right panel*) For zygotically active genes, only the homozygous one-quarter of the embryos derived from a cross between heterozygotes will be abnormal, even though all embryos develop with identical maternal contributions.

specific loss of ventral pattern elements such that the entire cuticle appears dorsalized. These mutant phenotypes suggested that the AP and dorsal-ventral (DV) axes of the egg were independently established by two gradient systems oriented at right angles to each other (Nüsslein-Volhard 1979, Nüsslein-Volhard et al. 1980). *Notch*, originally identified as a dominant mutation displaying notches in the wing, provided an example of a zygotic gene. Homozygous mutant individuals are embryonic lethal, and neural tissue had been shown to develop at the expense of epidermal tissue (Poulson 1937, 1940). When we began our experiments, virtually nothing was known about the segmentation process itself or how the number of segments was determined in any organism. We investigated existing stocks to see whether some might already contain such mutations. In this shelf screen, which included many chromosomal deficiencies that we obtained from various sources, we recognized *Krüppel*, which had been described by Gloor (1950), and fortuitously a few other mutations affecting the number or polarity of the larval segments. These findings greatly encouraged us.

To inspect eggs from large numbers of unique fly stocks efficiently, we invented simple devices to collect eggs repeatedly and simultaneously from several stocks of flies (Figure 3). To inspect embryos collected on transparent agar plates, we used a special oil to make the opaque chorion transparent (Wieschaus & Nüsslein-Volhard 1986). It was quite difficult to examine the mutant phenotypes in the living embryo, so for the mutant screens, we chose a single prominent tissue of the larval body: the epidermis. The larval epidermis is covered by a secreted, extracellular cuticle that bears a number of special structures—such as denticles and hairs, sense organs, and wrinkles—arranged in a stereotypic pattern. We adopted efficient clearing protocols for the larval cuticle, allowing for the analysis of the details of its cuticle structures (Lohs-Schardin et al. 1979). The cuticle preparations made individual segments easy to detect as prominent ventral denticle belts and allowed for the analysis of other patterned features along the DV axis (Figure 1).



Replica plating egg collections from multiple mutant stocks. Flies from different mutagenized lines are transferred to tubes glued together in a block formation. Females lay eggs in defined position on yeasted apple juice agar plates. After 24 h, the normal embryos have hatched, and the unhatched mutant embryos can be collected for microscopic examination.

The integrity of the epidermis, as a coherent tissue composed of epithelial cells, is also reflected in the cuticle. Importantly, in contrast to the soft organs of the body, the cuticle stays intact for some time after the death of embryos, allowing mutant embryos to be collected over a longer time period before inspection. The anlage for the epidermis in the blastoderm stage covers a large, continuous region of the egg surface, from 15% to 65% egg length (Lohs-Schardin et al. 1979, Szabad et al. 1979) (**Figure 4**). At the anterior and posterior, cells invaginate to give rise to the head (which in dipteran insects is involuted), the gut anlagen, and the brain. Ventrally, a band of cells invaginate and develop into mesodermal structures, whereas the ventral nerve chord is derived from a lateral region that also forms ventral denticle belts. Deviations from normal that primarily affect internal organs may display a cuticle phenotype. For example, *Notch* embryos lack ventral denticle belts because the cells form instead neural tissue, and *twist* and *snail* mutants form a distorted larva owing to the lack of mesodermal invagination.

Screens aimed at saturation involve large numbers. Previous estimates suggested that *Drosophila* possesses approximately 5,000 genes that could mutate to lethality. These estimates were based on the assumption that the number of genes corresponded to the number of bands that could be visualized in the giant chromosomes present in the salivary glands and other larval organs,

7



The relationship between the cuticle pattern of the hatching embryo and the fate map at the blastoderm stage. The primordium for the segmented epidermis represents a substantial fraction of the blastoderm and gives rise to the labial segment (la), three thoracic segments (t1 through t3), and eight abdominal segments (a1 through a8). Its pattern in cuticle preparations provides a simple assay for patterning in the earlier stages of development. Internalized structures such as the labrum (lr), head skeleton (hs), spiracles (sp), and tuft (tf) also provide useful markers for correct patterning. Mutants affecting regions of the blastoderm that give rise to soft internal tissues such as the stomodeum (ST), anterior midgut (AM), mesoderm (MS), proctodeum (PRO), posterior midgut (PMG), and pole cells (PC) can be scored only if those abnormalities have secondary consequences on the morphology of the epidermis.

and this assumption was roughly supported by the number of lethal complementation groups uncovered in chromosomal deficiencies (Judd et al. 1972). This correspondence later turned out not to be strictly true (Lefevre & Watkins 1986), but the number 5,000 provided us with a useful basis to estimate the fraction of genes that affect patterning. These genes presumably represented only a small subset of essential genes and could be distinguished from those required for more general, housekeeping functions only by direct inspection of the mutant larval patterns. Although patterning involved both maternally and zygotically supplied genes, maternal genes would be more difficult to identify, given that the screen would require an additional inbreeding generation. So we set out to do the zygotic screens first.

#### **Mutagenesis and Scoring**

The screen for embryonic patterning mutants required the establishment of inbred families of flies derived from individual males arising from mutagen-treated sperm and scoring eggs from brothersister matings carrying the same putative mutation (**Figures 2** and **5**). Mutational frequencies were increased by feeding males a potent mutagen, EMS (ethyl methane sulfonate). The dosage we used (25 mM) induced approximately one mutation in any given gene per 1,000 treated sperm



Crossing schemes to produce inbred lines to be tested for homozygous mutant embryos with altered patterns. The left panel provides a general schematic of the crosses, and the right panels give genetic details of the second chromosome (*top*), third chromosome (*middle*), and X chromosome (*bottom*) crosses. EMS denotes ethyl methane sulfonate.

(Lewis & Bacher 1968). With the aim of saturation, approximately five times as many test lines had to be established and screened. To avoid tedious sorting of flies, we eliminated unwanted progeny by using dominant temperature-sensitive mutations (Suzuki 1970) and by growing the adults to be used in the test generation at high temperature. After two generations of inbreeding, females and males heterozygous for the mutagenized chromosome emerged (**Figure 5**). Eggs were collected from those flies, and unhatched embryos were processed for the inspection of the cuticle. Because following all chromosomes in a single experiment was difficult, we performed separate screens for the two autosomes and the X chromosome. We tackled the second chromosome screen first, and a preliminary account of this first screen was published (Nüsslein-Volhard & Wieschaus 1980) (**Figure 6**). An invaluable technical assistant, Hildegard Kluding, participated in all screens. For the screen of the first and third chromosomes, we were joined by a postdoctoral fellow, Gerd Jürgens. Gerd is a superb geneticist who contributed substantially to the final evaluation and genetic characterization of the mutants (Jürgens et al. 1984, Nüsslein-Volhard et al. 1984, Wieschaus et al. 1984a). Gary Struhl also participated in some of the screenings.

The cuticle preparations were inspected and characterized using a checklist. We scored the following items:



The altered segmentation patterns of embryos homozygous for *paired* and for *knirps*, shown flanking a wild-type pattern in the cover illustration of the *Nature* paper describing the first mutants from the mutagenesis screen (Nüsslein-Volhard & Wieschaus 1980).

Do not keep: embryonic viable, lethal normal looking, lethal BFP (<u>brown</u>, <u>faint</u>, or <u>pimples</u>) Keep: cuticle differentiation, cuticle integrity, DV pattern, AP pattern, homeotic, other.

The screenings were always done by two observers simultaneously, using a discussion compound microscope equipped for dark field and phase contrast. Two observers helped us to be as unbiased as possible and reduced the danger of overlooking phenotypes due to inattention or fatigue. This setup was important, as a priori we did not know what to expect. Because the bulk of the work was the breeding of flies and because screening cuticle preparation was fun and allowed for the detection of a variety of phenotypes, our strategy was not to restrict ourselves to any particular feature, but rather to keep all mutants we could recognize as affecting any specific aspect of development in a Mendelian quarter of the eggs. Although the tested lines contained at least one lethal mutation, in the majority of egg lays, most of the embryos hatched, suggesting that transcription of the affected gene was not required during embryogenesis. In the third chromosomal screen, homozygotes for the available balancers were embryonic lethal without displaying a phenotype. Because the lethality of homozygous balancer embryos would have made the detection of new mutants difficult, we initially tested the progeny of unbalanced heterozygotes and established balanced stocks only in those lines that produced interesting embryonic phenotypes (Jürgens et al. 1984) (**Figure 5**).

For all chromosomes, in cases in which an anticipated quarter failed to hatch, most often the unhatched embryos looked normal. A similar number of lines showed normal morphology but poor differentiation (category BFP) or very subtle alterations. There was also a background of lines in which the frequencies of unhatched embryos were higher than 25%, and these lines often showed variable phenotypes. Many of these lines could be shown, using reciprocal crosses with wild-type flies, to contain translocations or dominant maternal effect mutations. We were of course particularly interested in mutations whose phenotypes had discrete effects on the larval pattern, but we initially kept many lines in which the cuticle phenotypes were less informative. Our rule was that we kept mutants in which the cuticle was largely absent or very defective (e.g., *shotgun, bazooka, ghost*; see **Figure 16** below), as long as the phenotype was homogeneous and could be observed in one-quarter of the fertilized eggs. Although an individual line showed little variation in phenotype, the lines we kept in total represent a large range of different pattern alterations (see below). As the unhatched embryos were directly inspected, we also recovered mutants that did not map to the specific screened chromosome but whose phenotypes were sufficiently conspicuous to allow recognition in a small fraction of the total embryos. These mutants included several dominant maternal effect mutants such as Toll (Anderson et al. 1985) and BicD (Mohler & Wieschaus 1986) and mutants of third chromosome segmentation genes (*hedgehog, hairy, hunchback*, and *knirps*) that were isolated in the screen for the second chromosome mutants (Nüsslein-Volhard & Wieschaus 1980).

#### **Complementation and Mapping**

Once we had isolated the mutants, we set out to define genes as complementation groups mapping to one site in the genome. To identify multiple alleles, mutants were first assigned to large phenotypic classes, and within the classes smaller groups and subgroups were established on the basis of the similarity of the phenotype. Mutants within these groups were candidates for allelism, a possibility we could rapidly test by inspecting transheterozygous progeny for the production of the mutant phenotype in living embryos. This approach worked well in many instances. However, it was less successful in cases in which alleles showed different strengths of the mutant phenotype. The X chromosome presented special problems for such complementation tests, as males carrying an X-linked lethal mutation do not survive, and complementation tests depended on the availability of chromosomal duplications covering the lethality (Wieschaus et al. 1984a). Finally, mutants were mapped by recombination with visible marker mutants. In addition to recombination mapping, a set of chromosomal deficiencies covering approximately 40% of the genome was used in complementation tests to localize the gene to cytologically defined chromosomal regions. The mapping analysis indicated that the patterning genes that we identified are scattered all over the genome, with no obvious clustering of genes with similar phenotype.

In the three screens, we established a total of 26,978 families starting from single flies heterozygous for a mutagenized genome in the F1 generation. These inbred lines contained a calculated number of approximately 17,200 lethal hits (7,000 lethal hits each for the second and third chromosomes and 3,200 lethal hits for the X chromosome, which is half the size of the autosomes). Embryonic lethal mutations occurred at a frequency of 25% of lethal hits (corresponding to roughly 1,300 embryonic lethal genes in the genome). We finally kept a total of almost 600 mutants. These mutants identified 120 loci, 100 with more than one allele and 20 as single mutants that were uncovered by a chromosomal deficiency. In addition, we kept but eventually discarded many lines that either could not be assigned to complementation groups or yielded somewhat generic, difficult-to-describe heterogeneous phenotypes but otherwise fulfilled all the genetic criteria for zygotic activity. It was impossible to apply the same rigid criteria consistently, and we suspect that mutants with some subtle phenotypes were not always kept. For example, head defects were often difficult to characterize, and in the screens of the first and third chromosomes, mutants with such defects were no longer kept for practical reasons. Deficiencies and rearrangements on the tiny fourth chromosome were also inspected, and we identified a single patterning phenotype that was associated with mutations in  $ci^{D}$ , a previously identified complementation group on that chromosome (Hochman 1971). Several lines of evidence—such as a high average allele frequency (4-5



Saturation curve. The plot shows the number of pattern mutants isolated over the numbers of lines (chromosomes) scored (*closed circles*) as well as the numbers of new loci identified (*open circles*). From Nüsslein-Volhard et al. (1984).

alleles per locus) and the identification of point mutations matching the phenotypes of all known chromosomal deficiencies—confirmed that we had almost reached saturation in all three screens. Last but not least, by the time we reached the end of each screen, new mutants did not identify new loci and instead represented additional alleles of genes identified earlier in the same screen (**Figure 7**). A subsequent equal-sized screen of the X chromosome resulted in the identification of only one additional locus, *brinker* (Jazwinska et al. 1999; E. Wieschaus, unpublished data).

The number of 120 genes corresponds to 10% of the embryonic lethal loci and to only 2.5% of all lethal genes in the fly. This small number came as a surprise. It means that most essential genes either are dispensable for pattern determination or have roles in this process that do not require precise temporal and spatial control of gene expression. The genes represent a heterogeneous collection with different degrees of significance, value, and importance. Strikingly, not every conceivable phenotype could be found, and many phenotypes came as quite a surprise. In some instances, the pattern of the defect roughly coincided with a particular structure or organ, such as deletion of the dorsal epidermis (*schnurri*), mesodermal anlage (*twist, snail*), or filzkörper (*empty spiracles*). But we did not, for example, identify mutants that deleted single segments as might have been anticipated, nor did the mutant phenotypes support a model of localized determinants for individual organs or structures. In naming the new genes, we aimed for a simple description of the phenotype (*even-skipped, crumbs, faintoid*) or an association (*shotgun, knirps, slater*) and tried to avoid names suggesting an interpretation of the function of the gene.

#### Limits of the Heidelberg Screen

When we began the screen in 1978, we had two concerns, and both were shared by many of our colleagues during the early planning stages of the screens' design. The first concern was that development was complicated and involved thousands of genes. A mutagenesis screen not directed at a specific developmental phenomenon would produce an unmanageable number of mutations, each of which would require extensive analysis before any meaningful conclusions could be drawn. A second and related worry was that, for the screen to be reliable, phenotypes of the dead embryos had to be informative. Removal of essential genes could have massive heterogeneous, pleiotropic effects that would obscure relevant developmental roles. The detection of a number of mutants with very striking phenotypes in our shelf screens and the isolation of mutant lines with specific phenotypes in pilot screens of the X and second chromosomes dispelled these concerns.

We, however, foresaw three reasons for our screen to miss zygotic genes with important functions in embryonic patterning. The first reason was redundancy. If the lack of one gene product can be compensated for by another gene, mutations in either gene alone might produce inconspicuous phenotypes or no phenotype at all. One example we knew about from Gerd Jürgens's at-the-time-unpublished work (Jürgens 1985) was the Polycomb (Pc) group, for which double mutants of any two members show dramatic embryonic phenotypes that are similar to those of the eponymous Pc homozygotes, in contrast to the very subtle phenotypes of single mutants. In cases in which the genes themselves are duplicated, mutants in a single gene might not produce strong enough phenotypes to be detected. Two cases within the segmentation mutants (gooseberry and *sloppy-paired*) turned out to have closely linked paralogs (Baumgartner et al. 1987, Grossniklaus et al. 1992), and the double mutants produce much stronger phenotypes. For practical reasons, we did not keep several mutants having subtle phenotypes or less specific effects on differentiation shared by many embryonic lethal mutations; these phenotypes and effects may have been due to the presence of paralogs in the genome. Fortunately, subsequent molecular studies indicated that in Drosophila the incidence of duplicated genes precluding a discovery by mutation is much smaller than in vertebrate organisms.

The second reason was haplolethality. Both copies of a gene might be required to survive to the adult stage. Although experiments with synthetic deficiencies spanning the entire genome indicated that fully penetrant haplolethal loci are rare in the *Drosophila* genome (Lindsley et al. 1972), heterozygotes for large deficiencies frequently show reduced viability. Point mutations with reduced viability in heterozygotes are less likely to be detected in a large-scale crossing scheme, and therefore our screen was potentially biased against genes with haploinsufficient effects on viability. However, heterozygotes for weaker, hypomorphic alleles at these loci survive, and our screen was thus able to identify weak alleles of genes displaying haplolethality (*decapentaplegic*) (Spencer et al. 1982) or semilethality [*Krüppel* (Gloor 1950, Wieschaus et al. 1984b) and *even-skipped* (Nüsslein-Volhard et al. 1985)].

The third reason was maternal contributions: genes transcribed during both oogenesis and embryogenesis. We relied on homozygous phenotypes and thus genes whose products needed to be supplied by transcription in the embryo. The mother initially supplies most of the RNAs and proteins present in the embryo (Davidson 1986, De Renzis et al. 2007). Such maternal gene products are generally uniformly distributed in the embryo and provide housekeeping functions required in all cell types. Maternal gene products are generally sufficient for the embryo to reach late stages with fairly normal morphology. Most of the genes we identified are not maternally transcribed, as evidenced by the analysis of clones in the germline (Lawrence et al. 1983, Nüsslein-Volhard et al. 1985, Wieschaus & Noell 1986). In cases in which maternal contributions were significant, we were able to identify mutations only when such maternal products had to be supplemented by zygotic transcription at later stages. Examples are *hunchback* (Lehmann & Nüsslein-Volhard 1987); *shotgun*/E-cadherin (Tepass et al. 1996); and *zipper*, which encodes the major cytoplasmic myosin (Young et al. 1993).

In the end, the number of genes we identified was small, and most of the phenotypes were very specific and informative. The small total number of loci was gratifying in that it allowed phenotypes to be characterized and grouped into classes and potentially developmental processes. One reason for the small number might have been that, due to our reliance on cuticle phenotypes,

mutants would have been missed if they affected only internal tissues or died early before cuticle differentiation. In the early 1990s, the Goodman lab carried out a screen scoring 13,000 lines with internal markers to detect abnormalities in the nervous system (Seeger et al. 1993). This screen identified several additional interesting loci (e.g., *robo, commisureless, single minded*) but also reemphasized how much neuronal patterning depends on genes identified in the Heidelberg screen (Doe et al. 1988). An alternative approach used compound chromosomes, deficiencies, and translocations to generate embryos lacking large chromosome regions (Leptin 1999, Merrill et al. 1988). This approach was undertaken in the hope of identifying genes that affected early embryonic morphology and that might have been missed in Heidelberg because they were relatively insensitive to chemical mutagens like EMS, or because their morphological effects did not result in a cuticle phenotype. Again, these screens were successful and identified an additional 8–10 loci that affect cellularization and gastrulation. In both of these cases, however, the yield of new loci was relatively low compared with that in the Heidelberg screen, and the Heidelberg screen continued to be a major source of material for developmental analyses throughout the 1980s and 1990s.

The number of zygotically active genes with informative embryonic phenotypes is small, given the number of tissues and structures that must be developed. The low number may be due to the fact that flies and probably most other organisms use the same genes and pathways at several times and places to establish pattern in many different tissues. It was possible to recognize their role in the earliest of the requirements by scoring the cuticle, but the phenotypes displayed there did not preclude equally important roles in other tissues.

#### THE GENE CLASSES

We next attempted to sort the genes into groups by using pragmatic criteria. We anticipated that similarity in phenotypes would identify genes whose products interact in development. Significantly, most genes display unique phenotypes that can be distinguished from those produced by similar genes in the same general phenotypic group. Given the degree to which the larval pattern was affected, the phenotypes suggested sequential processes of patterning the egg along the AP axis or the DV axis. We also identified mutants in which the larval body organization appeared normal but the epidermis showed specific defects, as judged by a defective cuticle. Such defects ranged from holes to various degrees of lack of structures and differentiation. For further analysis, we also inspected living embryos during development and identified those that already showed a phenotype at the onset of gastrulation.

#### **The Anterior-Posterior Genes**

**Figure 8** shows a selection of 20 mutants affected in AP patterning and sorted according to the classes described in **Table 1**. Mutations affecting segment number and polarity were particularly fascinating because of the strange and unexpected pattern defects displayed in the mutant larvae. Three classes of such mutations could be distinguished (Nüsslein-Volhard & Wieschaus 1980) (**Figures 8–11**).

#### Figure 8

Mutants affected in AP patterning: 20 mutants of genes listed in **Table 1** represent the following classes: gap genes [giant (gt) and Krüppel (Kr)], pair rule genes [runt (run), even-skipped (eve), odd-skipped (odd), paired (prd), and sloppy-paired (slp)], segment polarity genes [armadillo (arm), hedgebog (bb), wingless (wg), and patched (ptc)], segment pattern genes [arrow (arr), engrailed (en), lines (lin), midline (mid), and smoothened (smo)], homeotic genes [extradenticle (exd)], and head genes [buttonhead (btd), brown head (brb), and thick head (thi)]. From Jürgens et al. (1984), Nüsslein-Volhard et al. (1984), and Wieschaus et al. (1984a).



			·				-	
					Biological		Human	Human diseases
Class	Locus	Name	Band <sup>b</sup>	Phenotype	process	Protein type	ortholog(s) <sup>c</sup>	(examples)
Gap	gt	giant	3A3	A5–A7 deletion, head defect	Transcription	Beta zip transcription factor		1
	qq	bunchback	85A5	Gnathal segments, thorax deleted	Transcription	Zinc finger transcription factor		Ikzf1
	kni	Knirps	77E3	A1–A7 fused	Transcription	Zinc finger transcription factor		1
	Kr	Krüppel <sup>a</sup>	60F5	Anterior abdomen, thorax deleted, mirror of A6	Transcription	Zinc finger transcription factor	BCL6	1
	tll	tailless	100A6	A8 and telson deleted, head defect	Transcription	Steroid receptor transcription factor	NR2E1	1
Pair rule	eve	even-skipped	46C10	Lawn of denticles, in weak phenotype denticle bands of T1, T3, A2, A4, A6, A8 deleted	Transcription	Homeodomain transcription factor	EVX1, EVX2	1
	ftz	fushi tarazu <sup>a</sup>	84A6	Denticle bands of T2, A1, A3, A5, A7 deleted	Transcription	Homeodomain transcription factor		1
	q	bairy <sup>a</sup>	66D8	Denticle bands of T1, T3, A2, A4, A6, A8 deleted	Transcription	Helix-loop-helix transcription factor	HES1, HES4	
	ppo	odd-skipped	24A1	Denticle bands of T2, A1, A3, A5, A7 deleted	Transcription	Zinc finger transcription factor	OSR2, OSR1	1
	pdo	odd-paired	82D8	Denticle bands of T2, A1, A3, A5, A7 deleted	Transcription	Zinc finger transcription factor	ZIC2, ZIC5, ZIC3	Holoprosencephaly 5
	p.ıd	paired	33C3	Denticle bands of T1, T3, A2, A4, A6, A8 deleted	Transcription	Homeodomain paired box transcription factor	PAX3/5/6/7/8	Waardenburg syndrome

Genes affecting anterior-posterior patterning

Table 1

	unı	runt	19E1	Segment boundaries of T1, T3, A2, A4, A6, A8 duplicated	Transcription	p53/RUNT-type transcription factor	RUNX1/2	Metaphyseal dysplasia
	djs	sloppy-paired	24C6	Like paired, smaller deletions	Transcription	Forkhead domain transcription factor	FOXG1	Rett syndrome
Segment polarity	arm	armadillo	2B14	Denticle band duplication	Cell signaling	Transcriptional cofactor	β-Catenin, CTNNB1	Hepatocellular ovarian cancer
	ci.	cubitus <sup>a</sup>	102A3	Denticle band duplication	Transcription	Gli/zinc finger transcription factor (Hh pathway)	Gli	Glioblastoma, basal cell carcinoma, medulloblastoma
	qssb	gooseberry	60F2	Denticle band duplication	Transcription	Homeodomain paired box transcription factor	PAX3/5/6/7/8	Waardenburg syndrome, type 1 leukemia
	qq	hedgebog (bar-3ª)	94E1	Lawn of denticles	Cell signaling	Secreted ligand	SHH, sonic hedgehog	Solitary median maxillary central incisor
	ptc	patched (tufted <sup>a</sup> )	44D5	Segment border duplication	Cell signaling	Cell surface receptor (Hh pathway)	PTCH2	Basal cell carcinoma
	$s_m$	wingless <sup>a</sup>	27F2	Lawn of denticles	Cell signaling	Secreted ligand	ITNW	Osteogenesis imperfecta
Segment pattern	arr	полл	50A9	Enlarged denticle bands	Cell signaling	Cell surface receptor (Wnt pathway)	LRP5	Osteoporosis- pseudoglioma syndrome
	en	engrailed <sup>a</sup>	47F17	Anterior denticle bands deleted, pair rule fusions	Transcription	Homeodomain transcription factor (Hh pathway)	ENI	
	lin	lines	44F6	Anterior denticle bands deleted	Transcription	Transcriptional cofactor (Wnt pathway)	17NS1	Mental retardation-27 (MRT27)
	mid	midline	25E2	Anterior denticle bands deleted	Transcription	T-box transcription factor	TBX10	MRT27
				_			-	(Continued)

Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 2016.32:1-46. Downloaded from www.annualreviews.org Access provided by WIB6417 - Max-Planck-Gesellschaft on 02/03/23. For personal use only.

								;
					Biological		Human	Human diseases
Class	Locus	Name	Band <sup>b</sup>	Phenotype	process	Protein type	ortholog(s) <sup>c</sup>	(examples)
	nkd	naked (naked cuticle)	75F2	No denticle bands	Cell signaling	Intracellular signal processing (Wnt pathway)	NKD1/2	I
	otd	orthodenticle	7F10	Posteriorly pointing denticles	Transcription	Homeodomain transcription factor	OTX1	
	smo	smooth (smoothened)	21B7	Segment pattern, enlarged denticle bands	Cell signaling	GPCR like (Hh pathway)	OWS	Basal cell carcinoma, medulloblastoma
	pdn	unpaired	17A5	Irregular segmentation; T3, A5, A8 defective	Cell signaling	Secreted signal		1
Homeotic	ant	Antennapedia <sup>a</sup>	84B	Homeotic; T2, T3→T1	Transcription	Homeodomain transcription factor	HOXA6	1
	pxq	bithoraxoid <sup>a</sup> (Ubx)	89E1	Homeotic, A1→T3	Transcription	Homeodomain transcription factor		1
	exd	extradenticle	14A5	Homeotic; T2, T3→T1	Transcription	Homeodomain transcription cofactor	PBX2	
	btb	bomothorax	86C1	Homeotic; T1→T2, T3	Transcription	Homeodomain transcription factor	MEIS2	
	Scr	Sex combs reduced <sup>a</sup>	84A5	Homeotic, labium larger than maxilla, T1→T2	Transcription	Homeodomain transcription factor	HOXA6	
Homeotic Pc group	Asx	Additional sex combs <sup>a</sup>	51A5	Posterior transformation	Chromatin remodeling	Polycomb protein	ASXL1/2/3	Bainbridge-Ropers syndrome, Bohring-Opitz syndrome
	$P_{c}$	Polycomb <sup>a</sup>	78C6	Posterior transformation	Chromatin remodeling	Chromodomain protein		
	Psc	Posterior sex combs <sup>a</sup>	49E6	Posterior transformation	Chromatin remodeling	Zinc finger transcription factor, ring type	Hsap/PCGF2	1

# Table 1(Continued)

			Deafness, autosomal cardiomyopathy, CMD1J		Iridogoniodysgenesis type 1.	Axenfeld-Rieger	ayum ours type 3						
		SP1/3/5	EYA4		FOXB1, FOXC1			Robo-2				SLIT1/2/3	1
ND	QN	Zinc finger transcription factor	Transcriptional coactivator and phosphatase	QN	Forkhead domain transcription	factor	;	Cell surface receptor	Zinc finger	transcription	factor	Secreted signal	ND
ND	ND	Transcription	Transcription	DN	Transcription		;	Cell signaling	Transcription			Cell signaling	ND
Broad head	Broad head	Broad head	Broad head	Broad head	Head skeleton forked, telson defect		:	Broad head	Broad head			Broad head	Broad head
QN	QN	8F10	26E1	QN	98D5			22A1	32F1			52C9	ND
broad bead	brown head	buttonhead	clift (eyes absent <sup>a</sup> )	crack	forkhead			leak (robo2)	spalt			slit	thick head
bbe	brb	btd	cli	cra	fkh			lea	sal			sli	thi
Head defect													

<sup>a</sup> Allele previously known. <sup>b</sup>Mutants mapping at band positions 1–20: Wieschaus et al. (1984a), mutants mapping at band positions 21–60: Nüsslein-Volhard et al. (1984), mutants mapping at band positions 61–100: Jürgens et al. (1984). "Incomplete; en dashes indicate no homologs identified. ND denotes not determined.



Gap and pair rule mutants: gap mutants *Krüppel* (*Kr*) (strong phenotype), *bunchback* (*bb*) (weak phenotype), *odd-skipped* (*odd*) (strong phenotype), and *even-skipped* (*eve*) [weak (*eve*<sup>*D*</sup>) and strong (*eve*<sup>*RR13*</sup>) phenotypes]. The ventral aspects of mutant larvae were dissected out of the vitelline membrane.

First, there were five gap gene mutants (*giant, hunchback, knirps, Krüppel*, and *tailless*) that caused large deletions in embryonic regions in a gene-specific manner. Mutants of the eight pair rule genes showed pattern deletions in every other segment. Surprisingly, mutants for each of these eight genes showed a distinct frame of deletions, skipping specific elements in the evenor odd-numbered denticle bands and adjacent naked cuticle (*even-skipped, odd-skipped, hairy, fushi tarazu, runt*) or displaying characteristic pairwise fusions of the denticle bands (*paired, odd-paired, sloppy-paired*) (Figures 8, 10, and 11). The size of the maximum deleted region is characteristically different for null alleles in each gene, ranging from the deletion of a small portion of the denticle band (*odd-skipped*) to almost an entire segment equivalent, resulting in an unsegmented lawn of cuticle (*even-skipped*) (Figures 9 and 11).

The third class of mutants, segment polarity mutants, displayed deletions associated with duplications in each segment. In this class, phenotypes of duplicated denticle bands in four of the five genes (*hedgehog*, *armadillo*, *gooseberry*, *wingless*) were quite similar, whereas one phenotype (*patched*) was distinct from the other phenotypes (**Figures 10** and **12**).

Members of a fourth class of mutations affecting AP pattern display pattern alterations in each segment, such as enlarged (*arrow*, *smoothened*) or reduced (*engrailed*, *lines*, *orthodenticle*) denticle bands (**Figures 8** and **13**). In *engrailed*, the anterior portion of the denticle band in each segment is deleted, and in addition, there is a pairwise fusion of denticle bands (**Figures 8** and **11**), explaining why this gene was initially classified as pair rule (Nüsslein-Volhard & Wieschaus 1980). The possibility of grouping genes into classes suggested to us—without knowledge of their molecular function—that the segmented pattern was sequentially established. Initially, large unique regions were specified that guided the establishment of a first periodic pattern with double-segment periodicity. This pattern in turn was subdivided into fields of individual segments, each with its own pattern and polarity (**Figure 10**). Finally, and independently of the



Pattern deletions in an embryo homozygous mutant for genes (*a*) in the segment polarity class (*gooseberry* and *patched*), (*b*) in the pair rule class (*even-skipped*, *odd-skipped*, *paired*, and *runt*), and (*c*) in the gap gene class (*Kriippel* and *knirps*). Modified from Nüsslein-Volhard & Wieschaus (1980).



#### Figure 11

Schematic representation of deletion patterns in pair rule mutants. The shaded areas indicate the regions lost in the mutant patterns of strong alleles. Gene abbreviations (from *top left* to *top right*): *prd*, *paired*; *opa*, *odd-paired*; *eve*, *even-skipped*; *ftz*, *fushi tarazu*; *odd*, *odd-skipped*; *run*, *runt*; *b*, *bairy*; *en*, *engrailed*; *slp*, *sloppy-paired*.



Segment polarity mutants: details from the ventral anterior abdomen of (*a*) wild-type (+), (*b*) gooseberry (gsb), and (*c*) patched (ptc) larvae (phase contrast).

establishment of a correct segmented pattern [as we could show by the construction of double mutants with *Ubx* (Nüsslein-Volhard & Wieschaus 1980)], the character of each segment was determined by the action of the homeotic genes.

Members of the final group of AP patterning mutants, the homeotic mutants, are affected in the identities of segments without affecting segmental pattern. Because morphological differences between segments in the embryo are not as striking as those in the adult (Lewis 1978), such homeotic mutations cause only subtle alterations in the larval segment pattern. Such transformations were useful, however, because they often represented the null phenotype of the gene. Examples are the *bithoraxoid* mutant, in which the first abdominal segment seems to be transformed into thorax, and the *Antennapedia* mutant, in which all three thoracic segments (T1–T3) look like the first thoracic segment (T1). Neither allele displayed the adult phenotypes previously described for dominant alleles in these genes. Our screen identified mutations in two new homeotic genes (*extradenticle* and *homothorax*) displaying transformations visible in the shape of the denticle bands (**Figure 13**). We also identified mutations in members of the Pc group (*Polycomb*, *Additional sex combs*, and *Posterior sex combs*).



Segment pattern and homeotic mutants: posterior thorax and anterior abdomen of *orthodenticle (otd*) (abdominal denticle belts reduced) and *extradenticle (exd*) (posterior transformations). Other abbreviations: A, abdominal segment; Mt, metathorax. From Wieschaus et al. (1984a).

As discussed above, head mutants without additional features were difficult to characterize further. Two of them, *forkhead* and *buttonhead*, displayed a more conspicuous head skeleton, with *forkhead* showing posterior defects as well.

#### The Dorsal-Ventral Genes

Figure 14 shows a selection of 20 mutants affected in DV patterning and sorted according to the classes described in **Table 2**. The most obvious early morphogenetic movements in the fly embryo involve cells of the mesoderm and the amnioserosa that are established along the embryonic DV axis during gastrulation. Upon inspection of the development of living mutant embryos, we identified seven loci affecting gastrulation movements (**Table 2**).

In *twist* and *snail* mutants, the ventral furrow fails to form, the ventral denticle bands are reduced, and the larvae are twisted in the egg case (Figure 15). This dorsalized phenotype is indistinguishable from the dominant phenotype of the maternal gene *dorsal*, suggesting that *twist* and *snail* act immediately downstream of *dorsal* (Simpson 1983). Mutants in four genes of the gastrulation group (*decapentaplegic*, *tolloid*, *screw*, and *sbrew*) display enlarged denticle bands at the expense of dorsal cuticle (reminiscent of ventralized maternal phenotypes of *Toll* and *cactus*) (Arora & Nüsslein-Volhard 1992) (Figures 14 and 15). In other mutants, germ band extension is abnormal or delayed, or folds form in the germ band. In these latter mutants (*folded gastrulation*, *sbort gastrulation*, and *twisted gastrulation*), the cuticle displays various defects (Figure 14). Five genes in a second group (the *spitz* group) do not affect early gastrulation movements but share a phenotype in which the median part of the denticle band in each segment is deleted and the head skeleton is pointed (Figure 15). In the strongest member of this group, *faint little ball*, this phenotype is observed only in weak alleles, whereas in the amorphic condition all ventral cuticle is absent (Figures 14 and 15).

Mutations in the *Notch* gene had previously been shown to produce a neuralized phenotype (Poulson 1940) in which the ventral epidermis is transformed into neural tissue. In cuticle



preparations, only a shield of dorsal cuticle is preserved, and the ventral denticle belts are completely absent (Figure 14). We found this easily detected phenotype in mutants of five different loci (*Notch, Delta, neuralized, mastermind, big brain*) (Lehmann et al. 1983) (Table 2). In another class of mutants, the dorsal cuticle is absent (*schnurri, slater/thickvein*), the cuticle is dorsally open (*basket, raw, ribbon, zipper*) or has dorsal slits or holes, or the larvae are curled up and anterior and posterior parts are joined laterally (the U-shaped group: *bindsight, u-shaped*) (Figure 14). Although there are characteristic differences between the phenotypes, it was not possible on the basis of the phenotype alone to distinguish defects in the mechanics of dorsal closure, actual patterning phenotypes in the dorsal hypodermis, and more general cellular failures. For these reasons, our classification rests on the most general morphological features as well as on subsequent analyses.

#### The Epidermis Genes

A large fraction of our mutants displayed phenotypes suggesting a normal arrangement of the embryonic anlagen. However, the cellular properties of the epidermis (or the cuticle shed by the epidermis) were affected. **Figure 16** shows a selection of 20 mutants sorted according to the classes described in **Table 3**. In several mutants affecting cell polarity (*bazooka, stardust, crumbs*), the cuticle had small or larger holes, depending on the strength of alleles. Others (*string, three rows*) had no or a reduced number of enlarged denticles resulting from fewer but larger hypodermal cells. A strange group of mutants (*retroactive, krotzkopf verkebrt, knickkopf*) showed a combination of strongly reduced head skeleton, weak denticles, and hyperactivity in the mutant larvae, which often turned around in the egg case such that the tail end would be at the anterior egg pole; these mutants and a couple of others were affected in cuticle synthesis and organization.

Other mutants (*faint*, *unpigmented*, *pale*, *faintoid*, *dopadecarboxylase*) displayed unpigmented denticles and mouth parts, suggesting that the melanin pathway was affected. The denticles and hairs are abnormal in *crinkled*, *shavenoid*, and *shavenbaby* mutants (**Figure 17**). Other mutants failed to form a cuticle, although characteristic remnants of the internal organs were still present. Members of the halloween group—*phantom*, *shade*, *spook*, *shadow*, *disembodied*, and *shroud*—shared a very similar phenotype that was distinct from that of *ghost* and *haunted*.

#### **MOLECULAR BIOLOGY**

The mutagenesis experiments in Heidelberg were carried out with the primary aim of understanding the logic and complexity of embryonic pattern formation in terms of its genetics and the phenotypes. So little was known about these areas that at the time we did not yet think in molecular terms and (despite one of us having been trained as a biochemist) had not the slightest ideas or hypotheses about the nature of the gene products. When we discovered the segmentation gene hierarchy, it immediately became obvious that it would be very exciting to know the

#### Figure 14

Mutants affected in dorsal-ventral patterning: 20 mutants of genes listed in **Table 2** represent the following classes: gastrulation dorsalized group [*twist* (*twi*) and *snail* (*sna*)], gastrulation *decapentaplegic* group [*short gastrulation* (*sog*), *twisted gastrulation* (*tsg*), and *folded gastrulation* (*fog*)], *spitz* group [*faint little ball* (*flb*), *spitz* (*spi*), and *Star* (*S*)], neuralized mutants [*Notch* (*N*), *big brain* (*bib*), and *mastermind* (*mam*)], dorsal pattern mutants [*slater* (*str*)/*thickvein*, *schnurri* (*shn*), and *basket* (*bsk*)], dorsal closure group [*raw*, *ribbon* (*rib*), and *zipper* (*zip*)], and *u-shaped* group [*bindsigbt* (*bnt*), *u-shaped* (*usb*), and *tail up* (*tup*)]. From Nüsslein-Volhard et al. (1984) and Wieschaus et al. (1984a).

16.32:1-46. Downloaded f	rovided by WIB6417 - Max-Planck-Gesellschaft on 02/03/23. For personal use only.
Annu. Rev. C	Access provided

patterning
dorsal-ventral
gastrulation and
Genes affecting
Table 2

Protein type         ortholog(s)           I         Zinc finger         SNAl2/3           I         Luanscription         factor           I         Helix-loop-helix         TWIST1/2           I         Helix-loop-helix         TWIST1/2           I         Helix-loop-helix         TWIST1/2           I         Helix-loop-helix         TWIST1/2           factor         BMP2/4         BMP2/4           Secreted ligand         BMP5/4         D           I         Ligand         CHRD         D           Metalloprotease         TLL1/2,         D         D           Metalloprotease         TLL1/2,         BMP1         D           E         Secreted factor         TWSG1         D         D           F         Ligand         CHRD         D         D         D           F         BMP signaling         TWSG1         D         D         D           F         Berletmal         EGFR         BMP1         D         D         D           F         Fpidermal         EGFR         TUL1/2,         D         D         D           F         Fpidermal         EGFR         D         D						Biological		Human	
1.mail35D2Dorsalized, no ventral furrowTranscriptionZine finger transcriptionSNAD3twitwit59C1Dorsalized, no ventral furrowTranscriptionHeik-loop-heik factorTWIST1/2twitwit59C1Dorsalized, no ventral furrowTranscriptionHeik-loop-heik factorTWIST1/2twitwit59C1Dorsalized, no ventral furrowTranscriptionHeik-loop-heik factorTWIST1/2twideapentployie22F1VentralizedCell signalingSecreted ligandBMP2/4fogfuded20E2Germ band folded, garutationCell signalingSecreted ligandBMP5/4swawrew38AVentralized, posteriorCell signalingSecreted ligandBMP5/4swawrew13E1Shot gene bandCell signalingSecreted ligandBMP5/4swawrew13E1Shot gene bandCell signalingMetalloproteseTLL/2swawrew64A12Ventralized, posteriorCell signalingMetalloproteseTLL/2swaswardation96A19Ventralized, posteriorCell signalingMetalloproteseMetalloproteseswardation13E1Shot geneCell signalingMetalloproteseTLL/2swardation96A19Ventralized, posteriorCell signalingSecreted ligandTLL/2swardation13E1Shot geneCell signalingSecreted ligandTLL/2swardation13E1 </th <th>Class</th> <th>Locus</th> <th>Name</th> <th>Band<sup>b</sup></th> <th>Phenotype</th> <th>process</th> <th>Protein type</th> <th>ortholog(s)</th> <th>Human diseases<sup>c</sup></th>	Class	Locus	Name	Band <sup>b</sup>	Phenotype	process	Protein type	ortholog(s)	Human diseases <sup>c</sup>
$rvi$ $rvist$ 59C1Dorsalized, no ventralTranscriptionHelix-loop-helixTWIST1/2 $rvi$ $dpp$ $deapentuplegie$ 22F1VentralizedCell signalingSecreted ligandTGF $\beta_i$ $pi$ $pi$ $geartundim$ 20E2Gem band folded,Cell signalingSecreted ligandTGF $\beta_i$ $pi$ $geartundim$ 20E2Gem band folded,Cell signalingSecreted ligandTGF $\beta_i$ $rvi$ $srve$ $srve$ $srve$ $srve$ $srve$ $srve$ $signatunim20E2Gem band folded,Cell signalingSecreted ligandBMP5signatinim20E2Gem band folded,Cell signalingSecreted ligandBMP5signatinim13E1Short gem bandCell signalingSecreted ligandBMP5signatinimsignatiningLigandCell signalingLigandCHRDsignatinimsignatiningSecreted ligandBMP5LigandsignatinimsignatiningSecreted ligandBMP5LigandsignatinimsignatiningSecreted ligandBMP5LigandsignatinimsignatiningSecreted ligandBMP5LigandsignatinimsignatiningSecreted ligandBMP5LigandsignatinimsignatiningSecreted ligandBMP5LigandsignatinimsignatiningSecreted ligandBMP5LigandsignatinimsignatiningSecreted ligandBMP5Ligand<$	Gastrulation, dorsalized	pus	snail	35D2	Dorsalized, no ventral furrow	Transcription	Zinc finger transcription factor	SNAI2/3	Piebald trait, Waardenburg syndrome
dppdecopentaplegical $22F1$ VentralizedCell signalingSecreted ligandTGFB, BMP2/4 $pp$ $pgg$ $pdted$ $20E2$ Gern band folded, wentral holesCell signalingSecreted factor $  pgg$ $gastrulation$ $20E2$ Gern band folded, wentral holesCell signalingSecreted ligandBMP5 $ pgg$ $gastrulation$ $38A$ Ventralized, posteriorCell signalingSecreted ligandBMP5 $ pagg$ $short$ $13E1$ Shottgern bandCell signalingLigandCHRD $ pagg$ $short$ $13E1$ Shottgern bandCell signalingLigandCHRD $ pagg$ $short$ $13E1$ Shottgern bandCell signalingLigandCHRD $ pagg$ $short$ $13E1$ Shottgern bandCell signalingBMP signalingTWSG1 $ pagerulation64A12Ventralized, posteriorCell signalingBMP signalingTWSG1 pareshort13E1Shottgern bandCell signalingMetalloproteaseTLL//2, pareshort100id96A19Ventralized, posteriorCell signalingSecreted factor pareshort13E1      pareshort       pareshort   -$		twi	twist	59C1	Dorsalized, no ventral furrow	Transcription	Helix-loop-helix transcription factor	TWIST1/2	Robinow-Sorauf syndrome, Saethre-Chotzen syndrome
fogfoldedfoldedCell signalingSecreted factor $-$ servegastrulation20E2Gern band folded,Cell signalingSecreted ligandBMP5serve $13E1$ Short germ bandCell signalingSecreted ligandBMP5sogshort13E1Short germ bandCell signalingLigandCHRDsogshort13E1Short germ bandCell signalingLigandCHRDsogshort13E1Short germ bandCell signalingLigandCHRDsogshort13E1Short germ bandCell signalingBMP signalingTWSG1sogshort13E1Short germ bandCell signalingMetalloproteaseTUL/1/2,srwshrew64A12Ventralized, posteriorCell signalingMetalloproteaseTUL/1/2,stwshrew64A12Ventralized, posteriorCell signalingMetalloproteaseTUL/1/2,tul<	Gastrulation, decapenta- plegic group (BMP)	ddp	decapentaplegic <sup>a</sup>	22F1	Ventralized	Cell signaling	Secreted ligand	TGFβ, BMP2/4	Brachydactyly type A2, hemochromatosis type 1, microphthalmia
scarscrewscrew38AVentralized, posteriorCell signalingSecreted ligandBMP5sogshort13E.1Short germ bandCell signalingLigandCHRDsogshort13E.1Short germ bandCell signalingLigandCHRDsogshort13E.1Short germ bandCell signalingLigandCHRDsrwshrew $64A12$ Ventralized, posteriorCell signalingBMP signalingTWSG1srwshrew $64A12$ Ventralized, posteriorCell signalingBMP signalingTWSG1strudtall $96A19$ Ventralized, posteriorCell signalingBMP signalingTWSG1tultalloid $11A1$ Posterior end pulled inCell signalingSecreted factorTWSG1tugturite bull $57E9$ Ventral cuticle deleted,Cell signalingSecreted factorTWSG1tupfint little bull $57E9$ Ventral cuticle deleted,Cell signalingEqferEdFRtupfint little bull $57E9$ Ventral cuticle deleted,Cell signalingEqferEdFRtupfint little bull $57E9$ Ventral cuticle		føg	folded gastrulation	20E2	Germ band folded, ventral holes	Cell signaling	Secreted factor		1
sogshort13E1Short germ bandCell signalingLigandCHRD $gxstrulation$ $gxstrulation$ extensionextensionprocessingCHRD $srw$ $shrew$ $64A12$ Ventralized, posteriorCell signalingBMP signalingTWSG1 $srw$ $shrew$ $64A12$ Ventralized, posteriorCell signalingBMP signalingTWSG1 $srw$ $shrew$ $66A12$ Ventralized, posteriorCell signalingBMP signalingTWSG1 $tul$ $ploid$ $96A19$ Ventralized, posteriorCell signalingBMP signalingTWSG1 $tul$ $ploid$ $96A19$ Ventralized, posteriorCell signalingBMP signalingTWSG1 $tul$ $ploid$ $ploid$ $ploid$ $ploid$ $ploid$ $ploid$ $ploid$ $ploid$ $fistgustrulationfrom plued inCell signalingSecreted factorTWSG1fistfaint little bull5759Ventral cuticle deleted,Cell signalingSecreted factorTWSG1fistfaint little bull5759Ventral cuticle deleted,Cell signalingEpidermalEGFR,pntfaint little bull5759Ventral cuticle deleted,Cell signalingEpidermalEGFR,fistfaint little bull5759Ventral cuticle deleted,Cell signalingEpidermalEGFR,fistfaint little bullfaint little bullploidfaint little bullEpidermalEpidermalfist$		azəs	screw [l(2)IG76]	38A	Ventralized, posterior end pulled in	Cell signaling	Secreted ligand	BMP5	
srw $shrew$ $64A12$ Ventralized, posteriorCell signalingBMP signalingTWSG1 $tid$ $tolloid$ $96A19$ Ventralized, posteriorCell signalingBMP signalingTWSG1 $tid$ $tolloid$ $96A19$ Ventralized, posteriorCell signalingMetalloproteaseTLL/2, $tig$ $tolloid$ $96A19$ Ventralized, posteriorCell signalingMetalloproteaseTLL/2, $tig$ $troited$ $11A1$ Posterior end pulled inCell signalingSecreted factorTWSG1 $tig$ $troited$ $11A1$ Posterior end pulled inCell signalingSecreted factorTWSG1 $tig$ $troited$ $11A1$ Posterior end pulled inCell signalingSecreted factorTWSG1 $tig$ $troited$ $11A1$ Posterior end pulled inCell signalingSecreted factorTWSG1 $tid$ $troited$ $troited$ $troited$ $troited$ $troited$ $troited factortidtoritedo,toritedoCell signalingErdermalEGFRtit<$		Sog	sbort gastrulation	13E1	Short germ band extension	Cell signaling	Ligand processing	CHRD	
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$		aLAS	shrew	64A12	Ventralized, posterior end pulled in	Cell signaling	BMP signaling	TWSG1	
tsg $twisted$ $11A1$ Posterior end pulled in BastrulationCell signalingSecreted factorTWSG1 $ fbb$ $jaint little ball57E9Ventral cuticle deleted,head pointedCell signalingEpidermalEGFRApnt(torpedo,EGFR)head pointedCell signalingEpidermalEGFRApntpointedpointedTranscriptionETS-pntpointedpointedTranscriptionETS-$		tld	tolloid	96A19	Ventralized, posterior end pulled in	Cell signaling	Metalloprotease	TLL1/2, BMP1	Atrial septal defect 6, osteogenesis imperfecta
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$		tsg	twisted gastrulation	11A1	Posterior end pulled in	Cell signaling	Secreted factor	TWSG1	
pointed         94E10         Midventral deletion,         Transcription         ETS         ETS1/2         -           head pointed         transcription         factor         factor         factor         factor         -	Spitz group (EGF)	$\mathcal{H}b$	faint little ball (torpedo, EGFR)	57E9	Ventral cuticle deleted, head pointed	Cell signaling	Epidermal growth factor receptor	EGFR	Adenocarcinoma of lung, non-small cell lung cancer
		pnt	pointed	94E10	Midventral deletion, head pointed	Transcription	ETS transcription factor	ETS1/2	

	rbo	r·bomboid (veinlet)	62A2	Midventral deletion, head pointed	Cell signaling	Ligand processing (spitz)	RHBDL2	l
	ids	spitz	37F2	Midventral deletion, head pointed	Cell signaling	Secreted ligand: EGF	EGF	Hypomagnesemia 4
	S	Star <sup>.a</sup>	21E4	Midventral deletion, head pointed	Cell signaling	EGFR chaperone		
Neuralized	bib	big brain	30F5	Ventral cuticle absent, neuralized	Cell signaling	MIP/aquaporin family channel		
	DI	Delta <sup>a</sup>	92A1	Ventral cuticle absent, neuralized	Cell signaling	Cell surface ligand	DLL1/2	Adams-Oliver syndrome 6
	E(spl)	enbancer of split <sup>a</sup>	96F10	Ventral cuticle absent, neuralized	Transcription	Helix-loop-helix transcription factor		
	mam	mastermind	50C23	Ventral cuticle absent, neuralized	Transcription	Transcriptional coactivator	MAML1	1
	N	Notch <sup>a</sup>	3C7	Ventral cuticle absent, neuralized	Cell signaling	Cell surface receptor	NOTCH1/2/3	Aortic valve disease, Alagille syndrome 2
	nen	neuralized	85C2	Ventral cuticle absent, neuralized	Cell signaling	E3 ubiquitin ligase	NEURL1B	
Dorsal pattern	pm	pannier	89B9	Dorsal cuticle absent	Transcription	Zinc finger transcription factor	GATA2	Emberger syndrome, immunodeficiency 21
	put	punt	88C9	Dorsal open	Cell signaling	Ser/Thr protein kinase receptor (dpp pathway)	TGFBR2	Loeys-Dietz syndrome 2, hereditary nonpolyposis 6
	nds	schnurri	47D6	Dorsal cuticle absent	Transcription	Zinc finger transcription factor	HIVEP1/2/3	
	str	slater (thickveins <sup>a</sup> )	25D1	Dorsal cuticle absent	Cell signaling	Ser/Thr protein kinase receptor (dpp pathway)	Activin receptor ACVR1	Fibrodysplasia ossificans progressiva
Dorsal closure	dov	anterior open	22D1	Dorsal anterior deletion	Transcription	ETS transcription factor		1
	IA109	anterior open	46E4	Dorsal anterior deletion	Transcription	JUN		
	bsk	basket	31B1	Dorsal anterior deletion	Cell signaling	JUN kinase	MAPK9	

Table 2 (Con	(Continued)							
					Biological		Human	
Class	Locus	Name	Band <sup>b</sup>	Phenotype	process	Protein type	ortholog(s)	Human diseases <sup>c</sup>
	cno	canoe	82F4	Dorsal open	Cell adhesion	Ras GTPase actin-binding protein	MLLT4	1
	kay	kayak	99B10	Dorsal open	Transcription	Beta zip transcription factor	I	1
	raw	av.	29E4	Dorsal open, cuticle poorly differentiated	Cell signaling	Antagonist of JUN kinase pathway	I	1
	rib	ribbon	56C6	Ventral denticle bands narrow, dorsal open	Transcription	Zinc finger transcription factor	I	1
	yrt	yurt	87E11	Dorsal posterior open	Cytoskeleton	Band 4.1–like protein	EPB41L5	
	zip	zipper	60E12	Head and dorsal closure defective, hole in ventral thorax	Cytoskeleton	Nonmuscle myosin II	MYH9 (myosin heavy chain 9)	Deafness, autosomal dominant 17; Epstein syndrome
U-shaped group	bnt	hindsight (pebbled)	4C10	No shortening, dorsal closure lateral	Transcription	Zinc finger transcription factor	RREB1	
	spt	serpent	89E1	Defect in shortening posterior abdomen	Transcription	Zinc finger transcription factor		1
	tup	tailup (islet)	37B1	Defect in shortening, broad head	Transcription	LIM homeodomain transcription factor	Islet (ISL1/2)	1
	qsn	u-shaped	21D1	No shortening, dorsal closure lateral	Transcription	Zinc finger transcription factor		1

<sup>a</sup> Allele previously known. <sup>b</sup>Mutants mapping at band positions 1–20: Wieschaus et al. (1984a), mutants mapping at band positions 21–60: Nüsslein-Volhard et al. (1984), mutants mapping at band positions 61–100: Jürgens et al. (1984). °Incomplete; em dashes indicate no homologs identified.



Gastrulation and ventral pattern mutants: gastrulation dorsalized *twist (twi)* and gastrulation ventralized *decapentaplegic (dpp)* (weak allele) and *tolloid (tld)*; *spitz* group *faint little ball (flb)*, *spitz (spi)*, and *rhomboid (rho)*. The ventral aspects of mutant larvae dissected out of the vitelline membrane. The vitelline membrane of the *flb* embryo was removed by Photoshop. From Arora & Nüsslein-Volhard (1992) and Mayer & Nüsslein-Volhard (1988).

nature of the proteins they encoded and where they were present in the embryo. These were the early days of molecular biology. The advent of recombinant DNA technologies and positional cloning allowed for the identification of the genes. The banding patterns observed in giant salivary gland chromosomes of *Drosophila* were especially useful in these early molecular analyses because they allowed mutants to be assigned to visible bands and thus to physical positions on chromosomes.

Because we made the mutants from our screen available to the scientific community before publication, many of them were identified and sequenced and their expression patterns characterized in the years that followed. The discovery of the P-element and its use in mutagenesis and genetic transformation (Rubin & Spradling 1982) provided another advantage, speeding up the exploration of our collection. The first genes derived from the Heidelberg screens were cloned and published by 1984–1985. By 1995, 75 of the 120 genes had been identified; by 2002, 95. As we write this review, only 5 of the loci (see **Tables 1** and **3**) have yet to be unambiguously matched to sequences in the *Drosophila* genome.

#### Transcriptional Control

The first attempts at cloning *Drosophila* patterning genes by chromosomal walking were successful in cloning the homeotic genes *Ultrabithorax* and *Antennapedia* (Bender et al. 1983, Garber et al. 1983, Scott et al. 1983). These studies identified the first transcription factors and resulted in the discovery of the homeobox, a DNA-binding domain with homology to many genes in all animals (Laughon & Scott 1984, McGinnis et al. 1984, Scott & Weiner 1984). The first segmentation gene cloned [*fushi tarazu* (Hafen et al. 1984)], also encoding a homeobox gene, was not one of our early discoveries (Jürgens et al. 1984), but its location in the *Antennapedia* complex made it easily accessible by chromosomal walking. Next, the gap gene *Krüppel* was cloned using DNA



dissected from polytene chromosome band 60F (Preiss et al. 1985). *Krüppel*, like two other gap genes, *hunchback* (Tautz et al. 1987) and *knirps* (Nauber et al. 1988), encodes a transcription factor of a second class: the zinc finger DNA-binding proteins (Rosenberg et al. 1986). The first gene in the segment polarity/pattern class to be cloned (*engrailed*) was also shown to encode a homeobox transcription factor (Kuner et al. 1985, Poole et al. 1985). By this point, in situ hybridization techniques had been developed that allowed the location of transcripts in the embryo to be determined. The expression of *fusbi tarazu* and *hairy* in seven stripes (Hafen et al. 1984, Ingham et al. 1985), the single domain of *Krüppel* (Knipple et al. 1985), and the 14 *engrailed* stripes (DiNardo et al. 1985, Fjose et al. 1985, Kornberg et al. 1985) provided amazing proof of the segmentation hierarchy we had proposed in the Nüsslein-Volhard & Wieschaus (1980) paper.

Many of the early-acting genes, in particular the segmentation genes of the gap and pair rule class, were found to encode transcription factors (Table 1). The expression of these genes in blastoderm-stage embryos generally corresponded to the pattern of deletions observed in the mutants (Figure 10). The transcripts of gap genes were expressed in unique large regions (Capovilla et al. 1992, Knipple et al. 1985, Tautz et al. 1987), those of pair rule genes in 7 stripes with different genes having slightly different registers (Frasch & Levine 1987, Gergen & Butler 1988, Hafen et al. 1984, Ingham et al. 1985, McDonald et al. 1986) (Figure 11) and segment polarity/pattern transcripts in >14 stripes (Baker 1987, Riggleman et al. 1990, Stanojevic et al. 1991, Tabata et al. 1992). In genetic experiments involving double-mutant combinations, some of these genes were shown to regulate others within their group or to function downstream, and molecular data confirmed this finding (Howard & Ingham 1986, Ingham et al. 1988, Jäckle et al. 1986). For example, each of the seven stripes of the pair rule genes even-skipped, runt, and hairy is determined by a combination of different gap genes, whereas others depend on the activity of these primary pair rule genes (Frasch & Levine 1987, Hiromi & Gehring 1987, Howard & Struhl 1990; see, however, Schroeder et al. 2011). The early fate map along the AP axis of the embryo is generally established by a series of transcription factors that provide molecular prepatterns. By regulating each other, these patterns become refined until the molecular pattern directly determines the morphological pattern of the structures developing in the embryo as monitored by the cuticle pattern of denticles and hairs. The spatial control of downstream genes occurs via concentration-dependent enhancement or inhibition of their transcription as well as by combinations of two or more transcription factors (reviewed in Lawrence 1992 and Pankratz & Jäckle 1993).

Early-expressed genes that control the ventral pattern (*twist, snail*) (Boulay et al. 1987, Leptin 1991, Thisse et al. 1988) encode transcription factors whose expression domains directly correspond to the pattern of shape changes occurring in the presumptive mesoderm during gastrulation (Leptin & Grunewald 1990). Later-expressed genes controlling lateral and dorsal pattern and dorsal closure (*schnurri, pannier, kayak, u-shaped, hindsight*) also encode transcription factors (Arora et al. 1995, Frank & Rushlow 1996, Ramain et al. 1993), as do several head genes such as *forkhead* and *spalt* (Weigel et al. 1989) (**Table 2**).

#### Figure 16

Mutants affected in epidermal structure and integrity: 20 mutants of genes listed in **Table 3** represent the following classes: cell polarity [*bazooka (baz), stardust (sdt)*], cell adhesion [*myospheroid (mys), faint sausage (fas), scab (scb),* and *sbotgun (sbg)*], cell number [*fizzy (fzy), pimples (pim),* and *three rows (tbr)*], chitin [*retroactive (rtv), mummy (mmy),* and *schlaff (slf)*], denticles [*filzig (flz), crinkled (ck),* and *sbavenoid (sba)*], sense organs, tracheae [*cut (ct)*], pigmentation [*faintoid (ftd)* and *unpigmented (upi)*], halloween group [*phantom (phm)*], and secretion [*ghost (gbo)*]. From Nüsslein-Volhard et al. (1984) and Wieschaus et al. (1984a).

		•						
					Biological		Human	
Class	Locus	$Name^{a}$	Band <sup>b</sup>	Phenotype	process(es)	Protein type	ortholog(s)	Human disease <sup>c</sup>
Cell polarity	crb	squuns	95F10	Many small holes	Apical basal cell polarity	Crumbs protein family	CRB1/2	Retinitis pigmentosa
	baz	bazooka	15F1	Large dorsal and ventral holes in cuticle	Apical basal cell polarity	Par-3-like protein	PARD3B	
	sdt	stardust	7D17	Cuticle almost absent, small remnants	Apical basal cell polarity	Membrane-serine protein kinase	MPP5, CASK	Mental retardation microcephaly
Cell adhesion	fas	faint sausage	50B6	Poorly differentiated cuticle and head	Cell adhesion	Immunoglobulin superfamily		
	skuu	myospheroid <sup>a</sup>	7D5	Dorsal closure defective	Cell adhesion	Integrin receptor	ITGB3/4/8	Epidermolysis bullosa
	scb	scab	51E10	Middorsal hole	Cell adhesion	Integrin alpha subunit	ITGA4	
	shg	shotgun	57B15	Many small holes in cuticle	Cell adhesion	E-Cadherin	CDH20	
Cell number	fzy	fizzy	35F1	Ventral cuticle degenerated	Cell cycle, cytokinesis	APC-Cdc20 complex activity	CDC20	
	ldd	pebble	66A18	Ball of naked cuticle	Cell cycle, cytokinesis	RhoGEF	ECT2	
	pim	pimples	31D10	Poorly differentiated cuticle and head	Cell cycle, cytokinesis	Securin-like protein		
	stg	string	99A5	Few rows of denticles	Cell cycle, cytokinesis	Cdc25	CDC25A	
	thr	three rows	54F3	Few rows of denticles	Cell cycle, cytokinesis	Separase regulation		

integrity
nd
6 9
structure
nal
ern
bid
e
scting
ect
aff
Genes
~
le
Tab

1	1	1	1	1		Usher syndrome type I			1	Schizencephaly	Testicular anomalies, ventricular septal defects	(Continued)
LBP-1, CP2			UAP1			MYO7A/B		I	OV0L1/2/3	EMX2	GATA4	NPAS1/3
CP2-type transcription factor	Chitin synthase	GPI-anchored protein	<i>N-</i> Acetylglucosamine diphosphorylase	Membrane- anchored extracellular protein	Secreted protein	Myosin VIIB	Secreted enzyme	Actin interaction protein	Zinc finger transcription factor	Homeodomain transcription factor	Zinc finger transcription factor	Helix-loop-helix transcription factor
Transcription	Chitin synthesis	Chitin synthesis organization	Chitin synthesis	Chitin synthesis organization	Cuticle organization	Cytoskeleton	Cuticle structure	Cytoskeleton	Transcription	Transcription	Transcription	Transcription
Head skeleton glassy, cuticle thin	Cuticle and denticles thin; head skeleton reduced	Cuticle and denticles thin, head skeleton reduced	Undifferentiated	Cuticle and denticles thin, head skeleton reduced	Collapsed larval body	Denticles thick and forked, hairs fused, bristles	Denticles and hairs grainy	Denticles sparse, hairs short, trichomes absent	Denticles, hairs	No filzkörper, no antennae, head open	Filzkörper not elongated, head defect	No tracheae, no filzkörper
54E10	83A1	85F13	26D7	10A8	25C	35B8	45-46D	47F2	4E2	88A2	84F1	61C1
grainy head I(M)45, Elf1	krotzkopf verkehrt	knickkopf	Kuuun	retroactive	schlaff	crinkled <sup>a</sup>	filzig	shavenoid	shavenbaby (ovo)	empty spiracles	grain	trachealess
grb	kkv	knk	киш	1.12	stf	ck	ftz	sha	qas	ems	gra	trb
Cuticle						Denticles, hairs						

www.annualreviews.org • The Heidelberg Screen for Pattern Mutants of Drosophila 33

Table 3 (Co	(Continued)							
					Biological		Human	
Class	Locus	Name <sup>a</sup>	Band <sup>b</sup>	Phenotype	process(es)	Protein type	ortholog(s)	Human disease <sup>c</sup>
Pigmentation	ddc	dopadecarbo- xylase <sup>a</sup>	37C1	Unpigmented cuticle and head skeleton	Melanin/serotonin pathway	Dopa decarboxylase	HDC, DDC	Gilles de la Tourette syndrome
	fai	faint	ND	Unpigmented cuticle and head skeleton	QN	QN	ND	ND
	fid	faintoid (quicksil- ver)	10F1	Unpigmented cuticle and head skeleton	Melanin/serotonin pathway	Copper ion transporter	ATP7	Menkes disease
	ple	pale	65C3	Unpigmented cuticle and head skeleton	Melanin/serotonin pathway	Tyrosine hydroxylase	PAH, TH	Segawa syndrome, phenylketonuria
	upi	unpigmented (Punch)	57C7	Unpigmented cuticle and head skeleton	Melanin/serotonin pathway	GTP cyclohydrolase	GCH1	Dystonia, Dopa responsive; hyper- phenylalaninemia
Halloween group	dib	disembodied	64A5	Undifferentiated cuticle and head	Ecdysone biosynthesis	Cytochrome P450 family		
	phm	phantom	17D1	Undifferentiated cuticle and head	Ecdysone biosynthesis	Cytochrome P450 family		
	sad	shadow	87A1	Undifferentiated cuticle and head	Ecdysone biosynthesis	Cytochrome P450 family		
	sbd	shade	70E4	Undifferentiated cuticle and head	Ecdysone biosynthesis	Cytochrome P450 family		
	ods	yoods	64D5	Undifferentiated cuticle and head	Ecdysone biosynthesis	Cytochrome P450 family		
	0.15	pnords	99C1	Undifferentiated cuticle and head	Ecdysone biosynthesis	Short-chain dehydrogenase		
Secretion	gho	gbost	22D4	Undifferentiated cuticle and head	Secretion pathway	COP II ER-to-Golgi transport	Sec 24CD	Cole-Carpenter syndrome 2
	hau	baunted	83B7	Undifferentiated cuticle and head	Secretion pathway	β-COP ER-to-Golgi transport	Sec 23A	Craniolenticulosutural dysplasia

<sup>a</sup>Allele previously known. <sup>b</sup>Mutants mapping at band positions 1–20: Wieschaus et al. (1984a), mutants mapping at band positions 21–60: Nüsslein-Volhard et al. (1984), mutants mapping at band positions 61–100: Jürgens et al. (1984). "Incomplete; em dashes indicate no homologs identified. ND denotes not determined.

b а the first of the second ck

Denticle and hair mutants: (*a*) ventral and (*b*) dorsal aspects of anterior abdomen of *crinkled* (*ck*) (*top*) and *shavenoid* (*sha*) (*bottom*) (phase contrast). For wild type, see **Figures 1** and **12**.

Because the Heidelberg mutations produced phenotypes in homozygous embryos, but not in their heterozygous siblings, our screen identified genes that must be transcribed in the embryo. The pattern of that transcription must depend on some pattern that we assumed was present in the egg prior to its fertilization. Our screen could not identify such maternally acting genes, and in Heidelberg we established the genetic strategies of the screens subsequently carried out. These screens had to allow stocks to be carried through the multiple generations required to produce homozygous females that could be tested for maternal effects on embryonic patterning. The screens for maternal mutants carried out in Tübingen and Princeton led to the identification of approximately 30 genes involved in axis determination (Anderson & Nüsslein-Volhard 1984; Nüsslein-Volhard 1991; Nüsslein-Volhard et al. 1987; Schüpbach & Wieschaus 1986, 1989) that operate upstream of the zygotic genes we identified in Heidelberg. The principal morphogen gradients determining the egg axes, encoded by *bicoid, nanos, torso*, and *dorsal*, control the spatial patterns of expression of the transcription factors of the first embryonic prepattern, the gap genes, and the gastrulation genes such as *twist, snail*, and *zerknüllt* (St. Johnston & Nüsslein-Volhard 1992).

#### **Cell Signaling Pathways**

Patterning within individual insect segments has long been known from experimental manipulations to depend on cell communication (Lawrence et al. 1972, Wigglesworth 1972). Our screen identified lethal alleles in many components of the major cell signaling pathways that pattern the fly embryo. Many of these pathways play significant roles in the development and disease of vertebrate organisms as well. In recent years, names of the vertebrate pathways have sometimes been adopted in flies; examples are the EGF pathway for the Spitz group, Wnt for the Wingless group, and BMP/TGF $\beta$  for the Decapentaplegic pathway. Among the genes affecting the AP pattern (**Table 1**), several of the segment polarity and segment pattern class encode members of two signaling pathways, Hedgehog (*bedgebog*, *patched*, *smoothened*) and Wnt (*wingless*, *armadillo*, *arrow*), which shape the individual segments (Hooper & Scott 1989, Ingham & McMahon 2001, Nakano et al. 1989, Nusse & Varmus 1992, Peifer & Wieschaus 1990, Riggleman et al. 1990, Sanson et al. 1999, Tabata et al. 1992). The pattern along the DV axis depends on two signaling systems, BMP (*Decapentaplegic/BMP*, *tolloid*, *screw*, *shrew*, *short gastrulation*, *folded gastrulation*, *twisted gastrulation*, *schnurri*, *slater/thickveins*, *punt*) (Costa et al. 1994, Dale et al. 1992, Ferguson & Anderson 1992, François et al. 1994, Harden 2002, Mason et al. 1994, O'Connor et al. 2006, Ruberte et al. 1995, Shimell et al. 1991) and EGF (*faint little ball/EGFR*, *spitz/EGF*, *rhomboid*, *Star*, *pointed*) (Bier et al. 1992, Schejter & Shilo 1989) (**Table 2**). Neurogenesis involves the Notch pathway (*Notch*, *Delta*, *neuralized*, *big brain*, *mastermind*) (Campos-Ortega 1993, Fehon et al. 1990). Components of the same pathway could often be recognized on the basis of their common phenotype in fly embryos as described above.

Alleles in some of these pathways had been previously identified on the basis of their dosage effects on adult morphology (*Notch, Delta, Star*) or partial loss-of-function alleles that were homozygous viable in adults (e.g., *wingless, engrailed, hairy, thickveins, decapentaplegic*). Because the partial loss-of-function phenotypes produced by such mutations in adults were often variable, it was not obvious how these genes related to each other. Recognizing similarities in phenotype was potentially more straightforward for us, given that screens based on embryonic lethality are more likely to yield genetic null alleles. In some cases, however, classification was still difficult without further molecular analyses. Components of the same pathway might have opposite (complementary) phenotypes when one product acted negatively on another (as, e.g., in the case of Hedgehog and Patched), and it was not possible to distinguish members of the Hedgehog and Wingless pathways on the basis of subtle differences in the denticle lawns (see Figure 8).

Whereas the mutations discovered in the Heidelberg screen often identified the founding member of a pathway and provided anchors for future research, only through subsequent studies in many labs using genetic mosaics, ectopic expression, and epistasis experiments were other components of these pathways identified and the way in which individual components interact with each other elucidated. A crucial step in filling in missing genes in the pathways was the identification of components supplied not only by zygotic transcription in the embryo, but also during oogenesis. For most pathways, these components represent the majority of the genes in each pathway and are supplied to the embryo by the mother. They cannot, however, be identified by conventional maternal effect screens, because they result in lethality once the maternal supplies are used up, and homozygous females are lethal. Their identification required production of germ line clones, which was accomplished in pioneering studies initiated by Norbert Perrimon (Perrimon et al. 1989), as well as in suppressor and enhancer screens (Raftery et al. 1995).

#### **Cellular Differentiation**

Because our screen was based on examination of the embryonic cuticle, we expected that, in addition to identifying patterning mutations, we would identify genes whose expression was required for epidermal development and differentiation (**Table 3**). One group of mutations (e.g., *crumbs*, *bazooka*, *stardust*) affected gene products essential for apical basal cell polarity (Bachmann et al. 2001, Tepass et al. 1990, Wodarz et al. 1999), and another group of mutations (*sbotgun*, *canoe*) affected cell adhesion (Tepass et al. 1996). Mutations in cell cycle components (*string*, *pebble*, *fizzy*, *three rows*) (Edgar & O'Farrell 1990, Lehner 1992, Sigrist et al. 1995) could be identified due
to the failure of epidermal cells to complete the normal postblastoderm mitotic cycles. Despite the smaller number of epidermal cells in such mutants, these embryos showed globally normal segmentation, but the reduced number of epidermal cells produced fewer or no denticles. Mutations in the final differentiation stages of the epidermis were detected due to failure of the embryo to make normal cuticles. Mutants with altered denticle, hair, and bristle morphology (crinkled, shavenoid) (Bejsovec & Chao 2012, Kiehart et al. 2004) were affected in cytoskeletal proteins. Several genes displayed reduced filzkörper, terminal structures of the tracheae, suggesting that the tracheal system was affected. Although we did not keep mutant lines with broad heterogeneous defects in final morphology, three classes of mutant phenotypes were sufficiently consistent to define central steps in epidermal differentiation. All three groups are defined by enzymatic activities. Mutants in one group (krotzkopf verkebrt/chitin synthase, knickkopf, retroactive) define major steps in chitin synthesis and organization (Moussian et al. 2005, 2006), and mutants in the second group (dopadecarboxylase, pale, faintoid) are involved in a pigmentation pathway that is associated with melanin and catecholamine synthesis. Some mutants in the halloween group (phantom, shroud, shade, spook) define steps in the biosynthesis of ecdysone, which is required for final epidermal differentiation (Gilbert 2004), whereas other members of this group (ghost and haunted) encode members of secretion pathways (Norum et al. 2010).

### **IMPACT OF THE SCREEN**

In the early 1980s, when our mutants became available, transcriptional control was a hot topic due to the analysis of gene control in bacteria and yeast. The scientific community quickly recognized that segmentation genes provided an approach to unraveling transcriptional hierarchies, and *Drosophila* became the center of topical biological research. Soon it became the best-known multicellular model organism and, together with the nematode *C. elegans*, resulted in the acceptance of genetic model organisms for biological research. The discovery of homology between key players in development throughout the animal kingdom—which was made possible by the molecular analysis of many of the *Drosophila* genes, first the homeotic gene complexes (Duboule & Dollé 1989, Graham et al. 1989) but perhaps foremost the members of the conserved signaling pathways such as Notch, Hedgehog, Wnt, EGF, and BMP—underscored the usefulness of studying *Drosophila* as a model for development and even human disease.

In the early 1980s, embryological studies of the mouse and the development of mouse embryonic stem (ES) cells had just begun. ES cells allowing for the selection of rare recombination events that modified genes in the mouse (reverse genetics) opened up numerous possibilities for investigating the genetics of vertebrates. It soon became obvious that the most successful strategy for the identification of important regulatory genes in mice was to clone the Drosophila homologs. The powerful techniques being developed in mouse for embryological investigation profited greatly from this identification of relevant genes for analyses. Performing mutagenesis screens in mice remains a challenge. By contrast, zebrafish, a vertebrate model system, is amenable to a genetic approach, and systematic screens have led to the identification of more than 400 genes affecting the patterning of the fish larva (see Nüsslein-Volhard 2012). Interestingly, most genes affecting gastrulation in zebrafish have homologs in Drosophila, albeit with reversed effects on the DV axis: swirl and snailhouse/BMP2 and -4 cause dorsalization, whereas chordino/short gastrulation embryos are ventralized. In contrast, segmentation in vertebrate embryos, reflected in the formation of the metameric somite pattern, occurs differently than in Drosophila. The Hedgehog pathway (sonic you/hedgehog) is involved in shaping the somites, and mutants affected in somite formation (beamter, after eight, deadly seven) encode Delta and Notch homologs that act in conjunction with

a segmentation clock that subdivides the AP axis into metameric units (Holley et al. 2002, van Eeden et al. 1996). Only one *Drosophila* segmentation gene, a *hairy* homolog (*her-1*), participates in the segmentation clock (Holley et al. 2002).

In many respects, Drosophila development is quite special, and Drosophila therefore may not serve as a general model for other organisms. Early Drosophila development is characterized by an initial period in which the cleavage nuclei are not separated by cell membranes. This syncytial stage allows the hierarchy of transcription factor prepatterns to develop; these processes do not have parallels in early vertebrate development. The establishment of the embryonic axes by localized determinants in the form of RNA or extracellular cues is not even conserved in closely related insect species. As discussed above, the subdivision of the vertebrate embryo into metameric units occurs through a process very different from that in Drosophila. In contrast, all intercellular signaling pathways are conserved, and research in Drosophila has been instrumental in discovering many components that underlie growth and differentiation in various developmental processes. These pathways participate in the structuring of organs and tissues in all metazoans. Several genes discovered in our screen have homologs causing congenital diseases in humans or are human oncogenes. They have thus been instrumental in developing therapies for the associated human diseases (Tables 1, 2, and 3). The first drug, Vismodegib, as an inhibitor of the Hedgehog signaling pathway was recently clinically approved. We also learned many fundamental principles of cell biology in higher organisms, given that cellular properties such as cell polarity, the cell cycle, and the cytoskeleton are highly conserved.

When we carried out our screen, these considerations were far from our thoughts (Figure 18). We did not choose *Drosophila* as a model organism; in contrast, our screen pushed it to become one. Our aim was to investigate an animal that is sufficiently complex but at the same time simple enough to be able to understand as many facets of its properties and development as possible. The big leap was, on the one hand, that we chose the cuticle pattern of the larva instead of that of the adult fly and, on the other hand, that we sought to solve problems of embryology by using a genetic approach for which Drosophila was very well suited. We thought of our work not as having potential medical relevance, but as providing a comprehensive contribution to understanding the living world. The combination of embryology and genetics as an interdisciplinary approach made this aim feasible. The later discovery of the grand homologies-that an ancient metazoan common ancestor already contained most of the genes of the basic developmental tool kit (summarized in Carroll et al. 2004)-came as a big surprise and immediately upgraded the impact of our work. In retrospect, it is hard to understand why we were so surprised by this discovery, given that we are faithful Darwinians. But perhaps the history of developmental biology, stressing the differences more than the commonalities, had made the idea of comparing frogs with flies or worms seem far fetched. In fact, in the pregenetic days of developmental biology, the way in which development was described greatly depended on the methods applied to examine it (Kühn 1965). Frog people seemed never to speak about genes, whereas fly people rarely used the term factor. Comparing factors between organisms became possible only when their respective genomic sequences were known. The fact that spatial patterns of gene expression are more similar than the morphologies in different organisms further supported a general synthesis spanning the development of all animal species. In the coming years, the advent of next-generation sequencing and the application of the CRISPR/Cas9 technology for reverse genetics will open up the possibility of investigating many more organisms in better detail. The striking experimental advantages of Drosophila, not least its short life cycle and external development and the many genetic tricks and technologies possible in this organism, will keep it at the forefront of biomedical research.



#### Figure 18

Eric Wieschaus and Christiane Nüsslein-Volhard in 1979, at the time of the mutagenesis screen.

#### **THE AUTHORS**

Eric Wieschaus initially wanted to become an artist, got interested in embryology as an undergraduate at the University of Notre Dame, and was introduced to *Drosophila* embryos as a student in the lab of Donald Poulson at Yale University. He did his thesis in 1974 with Walter Gehring on clonal analysis, mapping the early development of imaginal discs in *Drosophila*. He moved with Gehring from Yale to Basel, Switzerland, where he participated in the lab's isolation of maternal mutants and developed the use of pole cell transplantation to test germ line versus soma contributions to embryonic development, using mutants from the Gehring and Gans groups. He then did a postdoc with Rolf Nöthiger in Zürich, Switzerland, working on *Drosophila* germ line development and sex determination.

Christiane Nüsslein-Volhard studied biology, physics, and biochemistry and did a thesis in molecular biology, isolating RNA polymerase–binding sites on phage DNA in Tübingen, Germany, in 1973. She got interested in development through the work on *Hydra* with Alfred Gierer and the Gierer-Meinhardt gradient model. The large-scale mutagenesis screen in *Escherichia coli* done in Tübingen, resulting in the identification of the true DNA-replicating enzyme, induced her to work on a genetically tractable organism to identify morphogens. She started to work on *Drosophila* in 1975 as a postdoc with Gehring in Basel, where she discovered *dorsal*. During a postdoctoral year in Freiburg, Germany, with Margit Schardin, she performed the blastoderm fate map by using laser ablations.

Both researchers have been independent group leaders, sharing a lab at the EMBL in Heidelberg, Germany, from March 1978 to March 1981. Wieschaus then went to Princeton and Nüsslein-Volhard to Tübingen.

#### **DISCLOSURE STATEMENT**

The authors are not aware of any affiliations, memberships, funding, or financial holdings that might be perceived as affecting the objectivity of this review.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Bernard Moussian, Philip W. Ingham, Kavita Arora, Siegfried Roth, and members of the Wieschaus and Nüsslein-Volhard labs for information, help with references, and comments on the manuscript. Iris Koch and Brigitte Sailer helped arrange the figure panels.

#### LITERATURE CITED

- Anderson KV, Jürgens G, Nüsslein-Volhard C. 1985. Establishment of dorsal-ventral polarity in the Drosophila embryo: genetic studies on the role of the Toll gene product. Cell 42:779–89
- Anderson KV, Nüsslein-Volhard C. 1984. Information for the dorso-ventral pattern of the Drosophila embryo is stored as maternal mRNA. Nature 311:223–27
- Arora K, Dai H, Kazuko SG, Jamal J, O'Connor MB, et al. 1995. The Drosophila schnurri gene acts in the Dpp/TGF beta signaling pathway and encodes a transcription factor homologous to the human MBP family. Cell 81:781–90
- Arora K, Nüsslein-Volhard C. 1992. Altered mitotic domains reveal fate map changes in *Drosophila* embryos mutant for zygotic dorsoventral patterning genes. *Development* 114:1003–24
- Bachmann A, Schneider M, Theilenberg E, Grawe F, Knust E. 2001. Drosophila Stardust is a partner of Crumbs in the control of epithelial cell polarity. Nature 414:638–43
- Baker NE. 1987. Molecular cloning of sequences from *wingless*, a segment polarity gene in *Drosophila*: Tthe spatial distribution of a transcript in embryos. *EMBO* 7. 6:1765–73
- Baumgartner S, Bopp D, Burri M, Noll M. 1987. Structure of two genes at the gooseberry locus related to the paired gene and the ir spatial expression during Drosophila embryogenesis. Genes Dev. 1:1247–67
- Beadle GW, Ephrussi B. 1937. Development of eye colors in *Drosophila*: diffusible substances and their interrelations. *Genetics* 22:76–86
- Beadle GW, Tatum EL. 1941. Genetic control of biochemical reactions in Neurospora. PNAS 27:499-506
- Bejsovec A, Chao AT. 2012. crinkled reveals a new role for Wingless signaling in Drosophila denticle formation. Development 139(4):690–98
- Bender W, Akam M, Karch F, Beachy PA, Peifer M, et al. 1983. Molecular genetics of the bithorax complex in Drosophila melanogaster. Science 221:23–29
- Bier E, Jan LY, Jan YM. 1990. rhomboid, a gene required for dorsoventral axis establishment and peripheral nervous system development in Drosophila melanogaster. Genes Dev. 4:190–203
- Boulay J-L, Dennefeld A, Alberga C. 1987. The Drosophila development gene snail encodes a protein with nucleic acid binding fingers. Nature 330:395–98
- Boveri T. 1901. Die Polarität von Oocyte, Ei und Larve des Strongylocentrotus lividus. Zool. Jahrb. 1:630-53
- Boveri T. 1902. Über mehrpolige Mitosen als Mittel zur Analyse des Zellkerns. Verhandlungen der physikalisch-medizinischen Gesellschaft zu Würzburg. N. F. 35:67–90
- Brenner S. 1974. The genetics of Caenorhabditis elegans. Genetics 77:71-94
- Bull AL. 1966. Bicaudal, a genetic factor which affects the polarity of the embryo in *Drosophila melanogaster*. J. Exp. Zool. 161:221–42

Campos-Ortega J. 1993. Mechanism of early neurogenesis in Drosophila melanogaster. J. Neurobiol. 24:1305-27

Capovilla M, Eldon ED, Pirrotta V. 1992. The *giant* gene of Drosophila encodes a b-ZIP DNA-binding protein that regulates the expression of other segmentation gap genes. *Development* 114:99–112

Carroll SB, Grenier JK, Weatherbee SD. 2004. From DNA to Diversity. Malden, MA: Blackwell Sci.

Chan LN, Gehring W. 1971. Determination of blastoderm cells in *Drosophila melanogaster*. PNAS 68:2217–21
Costa M, Wilson ET, Wieschaus E. 1994. A putative cell signal encoded by the *folded gastrulation* gene coordinates cell shape changes during *Drosophila* gastrulation. Cell 76:1075–89

- Dale L, Howes G, Price BMJ, Smith JC. 1992. Bone morphogenetic protein 4, a ventralizing factor in Xenopus development. Development 115:573–85
- Davidson EH. 1986. Gene Activity in Early Development. Orlando, FL: Academic Press. 3rd ed.
- De Renzis S, Elemento O, Tavazoie S, Wieschaus E. 2007. Unmasking activation of the zygotic genome using chromosomal deletions in the *Drasophila* embryo. *PLOS Biol.* 5(5):e117
- DiNardo S, Kuner JM, Theis J, O'Farrell PH. 1985. Development of embryonic pattern in D. melanogaster as revealed by accumulation of the nuclear engrailed protein. Cell 43:59–69
- Doe CQ, Smouse D, Goodmann CS. 1988. Control of neuronal fate by the Drosophila segmentation gene even-skipped. Nature 333:376–78
- Duboule D, Dollé P. 1989. The structural and functional organization of the murine HOX gene family resembles that of *Drosophila* homeotic genes. *EMBO J*. 8:1497–505
- Edgar B, O'Farrell P. 1990. The three postblastoderm cell cycles of *Drosophila* embryogenesis are regulated in G2 by *string*. *Cell* 62:469–80
- Fehon RG, Kooh PJ, Rebay I, Regan CL, Xu T, et al. 1990. Molecular interactions between the protein products of the neurogenic loci Notch and Delta, two EGF-homologous genes in Drosophila. Cell 61:523– 34
- Ferguson EL, Anderson KV. 1992. Decapentaplegic acts as a morphogen to organize dorsal-ventral pattern in the Drosophila embryo. Cell 71:451–61
- Fjose A, McGinnis W, Gehring WJ. 1985. Isolation of a homoeo box-containing gene from the *engrailed* region of *Drosophila* and the spatial distribution of its transcripts. *Nature* 313:284–89
- François V, Solloway M, O'Neill JW, Emery J, Bier E. 1994. Dorsalventral patterning of the *Drosophila* embryo depends on a putative negative growth factor encoded by the *short gastrulation* gene. *Genes Dev.* 8:2602–16
- Frank LH, Rushlow C. 1996. A group of genes required for maintenance of the amnioserosa tissue in *Drosophila*. Development 122:1343–52
- Frasch M, Levine M. 1987. Complementary patterns of even-skipped and fushi tarazu expression involve their differential regulation by a common set of segmentation genes in Drosophila. Genes Dev. 1:981–95
- Garber RL, Kuroiwa A, Gehring WJ. 1983. Genomic and cDNA clones of the homeotic locus Antennapedia in Drosophila. EMBO J. 2:2027–36
- Gehring WJ, Nöthiger R. 1973. The imaginal discs of *Drosophila*. In *Insects*, Vol. II, ed. SJ Counce, CH Waddington, pp. 211–90. New York: Academic Press
- Gergen JP, Butler B. 1988. Isolation of the Drosophila segmentation gene runt and analysis of its expression during embryogenesis. Genes Dev. 2:1179–93
- Gierer A, Meinhardt H. 1972. A theory of biological pattern formation. Kybernetik 12:30-39
- Gilbert LI. 2004. Halloween genes encode P<sub>450</sub> enzymes that mediate steroid hormone biosynthesis in Drosophila melanogaster. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 215:1–10
- Gloor H. 1950. Schädigungsmuster eines Letalfaktors (Kr) von Drosophila melanogaster. Arch. Julius Klaus Stift. 25:38–44
- Graham A, Papalopulu N, Krumlauf R. 1989. The murine and *Drosophila* homeobox gene complexes have common features of organisation and expression. *Cell* 57:367–78
- Grossniklaus U, Pearson RK, Gehring WJ. 1992. The *Drosophila sloppy paired* locus encodes two proteins involved in segmentation that show homology to mammalian transcription factors. *Genes Dev.* 6:1030–51
- Hadorn E. 1955. Letalfaktoren und ihre Bedeutung für Erbpathologie und Genphysiologie der Entwicklung. Stuttgart, Ger.: Thieme
- Hadorn E. 1963. Differenzierungsleistungen wiederholt fragmentierter Teilstücke männlicher Genitalscheiben von Drosophila melanogaster nach Kultur in vivo. Dev. Biol. 6:617–29
- Hafen E, Kuroiwa A, Gehring WJ. 1984. Spatial distribution of transcripts from the segmentation gene *fushi* tarazu during Drosophila embryonic development. Cell 37(3):833–41
- Harden N. 2002. Signaling pathways directing the movement and fusion of epithelial sheets: lessons from Drosophila. Differentiation 70:181–203
- Hartwell LH, Culotti J, Reid B. 1970. Genetic control of the cell-division cycle in yeast. I. Detection of mutants. PNAS 66:352–59
- Hiromi Y, Gehring WJ. 1987. Regulation and function of the Drosophila segmentation gene fushi tarazu. Cell 50:963–74

- Hochman B. 1971. Analysis of chromosome 4 in Drosophila melanogaster. II. Ethyl methanesulfonate induced lethals. Genetics 67:235–52
- Holley S, Jülich D, Rauch G-J, Geisler R, Nüsslein-Volhard C. 2002. *her1* and the *notch* pathway function within the oscillator mechanism that regulates zebrafish somitogenesis. *Development* 129:1175–83
- Hooper JE, Scott MP. 1989. The Drosophila patched gene encodes a putative membrane protein required for segmental patterning. Cell 59:751–65
- Howard KR, Ingham P. 1986. Regulatory interactions between the segmentation genes *fushi tarazu. hairy*, and *engrailed* in the *Drosophila* blastoderm. *Cell* 44:949–57
- Howard KR, Struhl G. 1990. Decoding positional information: regulation of the pair rule gene *hairy*. Development 110:1223-31
- Illmensee K, Mahowald AP. 1974. Transplantation of posterior polar plasm in *Drosophila*. Induction of germ cells at the anterior pole of the egg. *PNAS* 71:1016–20
- Ingham PW, Baker NE, Martinez-Ariaz A. 1988. Regulation of segment polarity genes in the Drosophila blastoderm by fushi tarazu and even-skipped. Nature 331:73–75
- Ingham PW, Howard KR, Ish-Horowicz D. 1985. Transcription pattern of the Drosophila segmentation gene hairy. Nature 318(5):439–45
- Ingham PW, McMahon AP. 2001. Hedgehog signaling in animal development: paradigms and principles. Genes Dev. 15:3059–87
- Jäckle H, Tautz D, Schuh R, Seifert E, Lehmann R. 1986. Cross-regulatory interactions among the gap genes of *Drosophila*. Nature 324:668–70
- Jacob F, Monod J. 1961. Genetic regulatory mechanisms in the synthesis of proteins. J. Mol. Biol. 3:318-56
- Jazwinska A, Kirov N, Wieschaus E, Roth S, Rushlow C. 1999. The *Drosophila* gene *brinker* reveals a novel mechanism of Dpp target gene regulation. *Cell* 96:563–73
- Judd BH, Shen MW, Kaufman TC. 1972. The anatomy and function of a segment of the X chromosome of Drosophila melanogaster. Genetics 71:139–56
- Jürgens G. 1985. A group of genes controlling the spatial expression of the bithorax complex in *Drosophila*. *Nature* 316:153–55
- Jürgens G, Kluding H, Nüsslein-Volhard C, Wieschaus E. 1984. Mutations affecting the pattern of the larval cuticle in *Drosophila melanogaster*. II. Zygotic loci on the third chromosome. *Roux's Arch. Dev. Biol.* 193:283–95
- Kaufmann T, Lewis RA, Wakimoto B. 1980. Genetic analysis of the Antennapedia gene complex in *Drosophila*. *Genetics* 91:115–33
- Kiehart DP, Franke JD, Chee MK, Montague RA, Chen TL, et al. 2004. Drosophila crinkled, mutations of which disrupt morphogenesis and cause lethality, encodes fly myosin VIIA. Genetics 168(3):1337–52
- Knipple DC, Seifert E, Rosenberg UB, Preiss A, Jäckle H. 1985. Spatial and temporal patterns of Krüppel gene expression in early *Drosophila* embryos. *Nature* 317(6032):40–44
- Kornberg T, Siden L, O'Farrell P, Simon M. 1985. The engrailed locus of Drosophila: In situ localisation of transcripts reveals compartment specific expression. Cell 40:45–53
- Kühn A. 1965. Vorlesungen über Entwicklungsphysiologie. Berlin/Heidelberg/New York: Springer. 2nd ed.
- Kuner JM, Nakanishi M, Ali Z, Drees B, Gustavson E, et al. 1985. Molecular cloning of *engrailed*: a gene involved in the development of pattern in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Cell* 42:309–16
- Laughon A, Scott MP. 1984. Sequences of a *Drosophila* segmentation gene: protein structure homology with DNA binding proteins. *Nature* 310:25–31
- Lawrence PA. 1992. The Making of a Fly: The Genetics of Animal Design. Oxford, UK: Blackwell Sci.
- Lawrence PA, Crick F, Munro M. 1972. A gradient of positional information in an insect, *Rhodnius. J. Cell Sci.* 11:815–85
- Lawrence PA, Johnston P, Struhl G. 1983. Different requirements for homeotic genes in the soma and germ line of *Drosophila*. Cell 35(1):27–34
- Lefevre G, Watkins W. 1986. The question of the total gene number in *Drosophila melanogaster*. Genetics 113(4):869-95
- Lehmann R, Jimenez F, Dietrich U, Campos-Ortega JA. 1983. On the phenotype and development of mutants of early neurogenesis in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Roux's Arch. Dev. Biol*. 192(2):62–74

Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 2016.32:1-46. Downloaded from www.annualreviews.org Access provided by WIB6417 - Max-Planck-Gesellschaft on 02/03/23. For personal use only.

- Lehmann R, Nüsslein-Volhard C. 1987. *hunchback*, a gene required for segmentation of an anterior and posterior region of the *Drosophila* embryo. *Dev. Biol.* 119:402–17
- Lehner CF. 1992. The pebble gene is required for cytokinesis in Drosophila. 7. Cell Sci. 103:1021-30
- Leptin M. 1991. twist and snail as positive and negative regulators during Drosophila mesoderm development. Genes Dev. 5:1568–76
- Leptin M. 1999. Gastrulation in Drosophila: the logic and the cellular mechanisms. EMBO 7. 18:3187-92
- Leptin M, Grunewald B. 1990. Cell shape changes in Drosophila. Development 110:73-84
- Lewis EB. 1978. A gene complex controlling segmentation in Drosophila. Nature 276:565-70
- Lewis EB, Bacher F. 1968. Method of feeding ethyl methane sulfonate (EMS) to Drosophila males. Drosophila Inf. Serv. 43:193
- Lindsley DL, Grell EL. 1968. *Genetic Variations of* Drosophila melanogaster. Washington, DC: Carnegie Inst. Wash.
- Lindsley DL, Sandler L, Baker BS, Carpenter AT, Denell RE, et al. 1972. Segmental aneuploidy and the genetic gross structure of the *Drosophila* genome. *Genetics* 71:157–84
- Lohs-Schardin M, Cremer C, Nüsslein-Volhard C. 1979. A fate map for the larval epidermis of *Drosophila melanogaster*: localized cuticle defects following irradiation of the blastoderm with an ultraviolet laser microbeam. *Dev. Biol.* 73(2):239–55
- Mason ED, Konrad KD, Webb CD, Marsh JL. 1994. Dorsal midline fate in *Drosophila* embryos requires *twisted gastrulation*, a gene encoding a secreted protein related to human connective tissue growth factor. *Genes Dev.* 8:1489–1501
- Mayer U, Nüsslein-Volhard C. 1988. A group of genes required for pattern formation in the ventral ectoderm of the Drosophila embryo. Genes Dev. 2:1496–511
- McDonald P, Ingham P, Struhl G. 1986. Isolation, structure and expression of *even-skipped*: a second pair rule gene of *Drosophila* containing a homeobox. *Cell* 47:721–34
- McGinnis W, Levine MS, Hafen E, Kuroiwa A, Gehring WJ. 1984. A conserved DNA sequence in homoeotic genes of the Drosophila Antennapedia and bithorax complexes. Nature 308:428–33
- Mendel G. 1866. Versuche über Pflanzenhybriden. In Verhandlungen des naturforschenden Vereins IV (Brünn), Suppl. 3–47
- Merrill PT, Sweeton D, Wieschaus E. 1988. Requirements for autosomal gene activity during precellular stages of *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Development* 104:495–509
- Mohler J, Wieschaus E. 1986. Dominant maternal-effect mutations of *Drosophila melanogaster* causing the production of double-abdomen embryos. *Genetics* 112:803–22
- Morgan TH. 1933. The relation of genetics to physiology and medicine. Nobel Lect. http://www.nobelprize. org/nobel\_prizes/medicine/laureates/1933/morgan-lecture.html
- Moussian B, Schwarz H, Bartoszewski S, Nüsslein-Volhard C. 2005. Involvement of chitin in exoskeleton morphogenesis in *Drosophila melanogaster*. J. Morphol. 264:117–30
- Moussian B, Tang E, Tonning A, Helms S, Schwarz H, et al. 2006. Drosophila Knickkopf and Retroactive are needed for epithelial tube growth and cuticle differentiation through their specific requirement for chitin filament organization. Development 133:163–71
- Nakano Y, Guerrero I, Hidalgo A, Taylor A, Whittle JR, Ingham PW. 1989. A protein with several possible membrane-spanning domains encoded by the *Drosophila* segment polarity gene *patched*. *Nature* 341:508– 13
- Nauber U, Pankratz MJ, Kienlin A, Seifert E, Klemm U, Jäckle H. 1988. Abdominal segmentation of the Drosophila embryo requires a hormone receptor-like protein encoded by the gap gene knirps. Nature 336:489–92
- Norum M, Tang E, Chavoshi T, Schwarz H, Linke D, et al. 2010. Trafficking through COPII stabilises cell polarity and drives secretion during *Drosophila* epidermal differentiation. *PLOS ONE* 5(5):e10802
- Nurse P. 1975. Genetic control of cell size at cell division in yeast. Nature 256:547-51
- Nusse R, Varmus H. 1992. Wnt-genes. Cell 69:11073-87
- Nüsslein-Volhard C. 1977. Genetic analysis of pattern formation in the embryo of Drosophila melanogaster. Characterization of the maternal effect mutant bicaudal. Roux's Arch. Dev. Biol. 183(3):249–68

- Nüsslein-Volhard C. 1979. Maternal effect mutations that affect the spatial coordinates of the embryo of Drosophila melanogaster. In Determinants of Spatial Organisation, ed. I Konigsberg, S Subtelney, pp. 185– 211. New York: Academic Press
- Nüsslein-Volhard C. 1991. Determination of the embryonic axes in Drosophila. Dev. Suppl. 1:1-10
- Nüsslein-Volhard C. 2012. The zebrafish issue of Development. Development 139:4099-103
- Nüsslein-Volhard C, Frohnhöfer HG, Lehmann R. 1987. Determination of anteroposterior polarity in *Drosophila. Science* 238:1675–81
- Nüsslein-Volhard C, Kluding H, Jürgens G. 1985. Genes affecting the segmental subdivision of the Drosophila embryo. Cold Spring Harb. Symp. Quant. Biol. 50:145–54
- Nüsslein-Volhard C, Lohs-Schardin M, Sander K, Cremer C. 1980. A dorso-ventral shift of embryonic primordia in a new maternal-effect mutant of *Drosophila*. *Nature* 283:474–76
- Nüsslein-Volhard C, Wieschaus E. 1980. Mutations affecting segment number and polarity in Drosophila. Nature 287:795–801
- Nüsslein-Volhard C, Wieschaus E, Kluding H. 1984. Mutations affecting the pattern of the larval cuticle in Drosophila melanogaster. I. Zygotic loci on the second chromosome. Roux's Arch. Dev. Biol. 193:267–82
- O'Connor MB, Umulis D, Othmer HG, Blair SS. 2006. Shaping BMP morphogen gradients in the Drosophila embryo and pupal wing. Development 133:183–93
- Pankratz MJ, Jäckle H. 1993. Blastoderm segmentation. In *The Development of Drosophila melanogaster*, ed. M Bate, A Martinez Arias, pp. 467–516. Cold Spring Harbor, NY: Cold Spring Harb. Lab. Press
- Peifer M, Wieschaus E. 1990. The segment polarity gene armadillo encodes a functionally modular protein that is the Drosophila homolog of human plakoglobin. Cell 63:1167–78
- Perrimon N, Engstrom L, Mahowald AP. 1989. Zygotic lethals with specific maternal effect phenotypes in Drosophila melanogaster. I. Loci on the X chromosome. Genetics 121(2):333–52
- Poole SJ, Kauvar LM, Drees B, Kornberg T. 1985. The *engrailed* locus of *Drosophila*: structural analysis of an embryonic transcript. *Cell* 40:37–43
- Poulson DF. 1937. Chromosomal deficiencies and the embryonic development of Drosophila melanogaster. PNAS 23(3):133-37
- Poulson DF. 1940. The effects of certain X-chromosome deficiencies on the embryonic development of Drosophila melanogaster. J. Exp. Zool. 83:271–325
- Poulson DF. 1950. Histogenesis, organogenesis and differentiation in the embryo of Drosophila melanogaster Meigen. In Biology of Drosophila, ed. M Demerc, pp. 168–272. New York: Hafner
- Preiss A, Rosenberg UB, Kienlin A, Seifert E, Jaeckle H. 1985. Molecular genetics of Krüppel, a gene required for segmentation of the Drosophila embryo. Nature 313:27–32
- Price JV, Clifford RJ, Schüpbach T. 1989. The maternal ventralizing locus *torpedo* is allelic to *faint little ball*, an embryonic lethal, and encodes the *Drosophila* EGF receptor homolog. *Cell* 56:1085–92
- Raftery LA, Twombly V, Wharton KA, Gelbart WM. 1995. Genetic screens to identify elements of the decapentaplegic signaling pathway in Drosophila. Genetics 139(1):241-54
- Ramain P, Heitzler P, Haenlin M, Simpson P. 1993. pannier, a negative regulator of achaete and scute in Drosophila, encodes a zinc finger protein with homology to the vertebrate transcription factor GATA-1. Development 119:1277–91
- Raz E, Shilo BZ. 1993. Establishment of ventral cell fates in the Drosophila embryonic ectoderm requires DER, the EGF receptor homolog. Genes Dev. 7:1937–48
- Riggleman B, Schedl P, Wieschaus E. 1990. Spatial expression of the Drosophila segment polarity gene armadillo is posttranscriptionally regulated by wingless. Cell 63:549–60
- Rosenberg UC, Schröder C, Preiss A, Kienlin A, S Coté, et al. 1986. Structural homology of the product of the *Drosophila Krüppel* gene with *Xenopus* transcription factor IIIA. *Nature* 319:336–39
- Ruberte E, Marty T, Nellen D, Affolter M, Basler K. 1995. An absolute requirement for both the type II and type I receptors, Punt and Thick veins, for Dpp signaling in vivo. *Cell* 80:889–97
- Rubin GM, Spradling AC. 1982. Genetic transformation of *Drosophila* with transposable element vectors. *Science* 218:348–53
- Rutledge BJ, Zhang K, Bier E, Jan YN, Perrimon N. 1992. The Drosophila spitz gene encodes a putative EGFlike growth factor involved in dorsal-ventral axis formation and neurogenesis. Genes Dev. 6:1503–17

- Sander K. 1976. Specification of the basic body pattern in insects. Adv. Insect Phys. 12:129-238
- Sanson B, Alexandre C, Facetti N, Vincent JP. 1999. Engrailed and hedgehog make the range of wingless asymmetric in Drosophila embryos. Cell 98:207–16
- Schejter ED, Shilo BZ. 1989. The Drosophila EGF receptor homolog (DER) gene is allelic to faint little ball, a locus essential for embryonic development. Cell 56:1093–104
- Schroeder MD, Greer C, Gaul U. 2011. How to make stripes: deciphering the transition from non-periodic to periodic patterns in *Drosophila* segmentation. *Development* 138(14):3067–78
- Schubiger G, Hadorn E. 1968. Auto- and allotypic differentiation in vivo cultivated foreleg blastemas of Drosophila melanogaster. Dev. Biol. 17:584–602
- Schüpbach T, Wieschaus E. 1986. Germline autonomy of maternal-effect mutations altering the embryonic body pattern of *Drosophila*. Dev. Biol. 113:443–48
- Schüpbach T, Wieschaus E. 1989. Maternal-effect mutations altering the anterior-posterior pattern of the Drosophila embryo. Roux's Arch. Dev. Biol. 195:302–17
- Scott MP, Weiner AJ. 1984. Structural relationships among genes that control development: sequence homology between the Antennapedia. Ultrabithorax, and fushi tarazu loci of Drosophila. PNAS 81:4115–19
- Scott MP, Weiner AJ, Hazelrigg T, Polisky BA, Pirrotta V, et al. 1983. The molecular organization of the Antennapedia locus of Drosophila. Cell 35:763–76
- Seeger M, Tear G, Ferres-Marco D, Goodman CS. 1993. Mutations affecting growth cone guidance in Drosophila: genes necessary for guidance toward or away from the midline. Neuron 10(3):409–26
- Shimell MJ, Ferguson EL, Childs SR, O'Connor MB. 1991. The Drosophila dorsal-ventral patterning gene tolloid is related to human bone morphogenetic protein 1. Cell 67:469–81
- Sigrist S, Jacobs H, Stratmann R, Lehner CF. 1995. Exit from mitosis is regulated by Drosophila fizzy and the sequential destruction of cyclins A, B and B3. EMBO J. 14:4827–38
- Simpson P. 1983. Maternal and zygotic gene interactions during formation of the dorso-ventral pattern in Drosophila embryos. Genetics 105:615–32
- Spemann H. 1935. The organizer-effect in embryonic development. Nobel Lect. http://www.nobelprize.org/ nobel\_prizes/medicine/laureates/1935/spemann-lecture.html
- Spencer FA, Hoffmann FM, Gelbart WM. 1982. Decapentaplegic: a gene complex affecting morphogenesis in Drosophila melanogaster. Cell 28(3):451–61
- St. Johnston D, Nüsslein-Volhard C. 1992. The origin of pattern and polarity in the Drosophila embryo. Cell 68:201–19
- Stanojevic D, Small S, Levine M. 1991. Regulation of a segmentation stripe by overlapping activators and repressors. Science 253:1385–87
- Suzuki DT. 1970. Temperature-sensitive mutations in Drosophila melanogaster. Science 170(3959):695-706
- Szabad J, Schüpbach T, Wieschaus E. 1979. Cell lineage and development in the larval epidermis of Drosophila melanogaster. Dev. Biol. 73:256–71
- Tabata T, Eaton S, Kornberg T. 1992. The Drosophila bedgehog gene is expressed specifically in posterior compartment cells and is a target of engrailed regulation. Genes Dev. 6:2635–45
- Tautz D, Lehmann R, Schnürch H, Schuh R, Seifert E, et al. 1987. Finger protein of novel structure encoded by *hunchback*, a second member of the gap class of *Drosophila* segmentation genes. *Nature* 327:383–89
- Tepass U, Gruszynski-DeFeo E, Haag TA, Omatyar L, Török T, Hartenstein V. 1996. Shotgun encodes Drosophila E-cadherin and is preferentially required during cell rearrangement in the neurectoderm and other morphogenetically active epithelia. Genes Dev. 10:672–85
- Tepass U, Teres C, Knust E. 1990. crumbs encodes an EGF-like protein expressed on the apical membranes of *Drosophila* epithelial cells and required for the organization of epithelia. Cell 61:787–99
- Thisse B, Stoetzel C, Gorostiza-Thisse C, Perrin-Schmitt F. 1988. Sequence of the *twist* gene and nuclear localization of its protein in endomesodermal cells of early *Drosophila* embryos. *EMBO J*. 7:2175–83
- Van Eeden FJM, Granato M, Schach U, Brand M, Furutani-Seiki M, et al. 1996. Mutations affecting somite formation and patterning in the zebrafish, *Danio rerio. Development* 123:153–64
- Watson JD. 1965. Molecular Biology of the Gene. New York: Benjamin
- Weigel D, Jürgens G, Küttner F, Seifert E, Jäckle H. 1989. The homeotic gene forkhead encodes a nuclear protein and is expressed in the terminal regions of the Drosophila embryo. Cell 57:645–58

- Wieschaus E, Gehring W. 1976. Clonal analysis of primordial disc cells in the early embryo of Drosophila melanogaster. Dev. Biol. 50(2):249–63
- Wieschaus E, Noell E. 1986. Specificity of embryonic lethal mutations in *Drosophila* analyzed in germ line clones. *Roux's Arch. Dev. Biol.* 195:63–73
- Wieschaus E, Nüsslein-Volhard C. 1986. Looking at embryos. In Drosophila: A Practical Approach, ed. DB Roberts, pp. 199–226. Oxford, UK: IRL Press
- Wieschaus E, Nüsslein-Volhard C, Jürgens G. 1984a. Mutations affecting the pattern of the larval cuticle in Drosophila melanogaster. III. Zygotic loci on the X-chromosome and the fourth chromosome. Roux's Arch. Dev. Biol. 193:296–307
- Wieschaus E, Nüsslein-Volhard C, Kluding H. 1984b. Krüppel, a gene whose activity is required early in the zygotic genome for normal embryonic segmentation. Dev. Biol. 104:172–86

Wigglesworth VB. 1972. The Principles of Insect Physiology. London: Chapman and Hall. 7th ed.

- Wilson EB. 1925. The Cell in Development and Heredity. New York: Macmillan
- Wodarz A, Ramrath A, Kuchinke U, Knust E. 1999. Bazooka provides an apical cue for Inscuteable localization in *Drosophila* neuroblasts. *Nature* 402:544–47
- Wolpert L. 1969. Positional information and the spatial pattern of cellular differentiation. J. Theoret. Biol. 25:1–47

Wright TRF. 1970. The genetics of embryogenesis in Drosophila. Adv. Genet. 1970:261-395

Young PE, Richman AM, Ketchum AS, Kiehart DP. 1993. Morphogenesis in Drosophila requires nonmuscle myosin heavy chain function. Genes Dev. 7:29–41

# $\mathbf{\hat{R}}$

Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology Volume 32, 2016

# Contents

The Heidelberg Screen for Pattern Mutants of Drosophila: A Personal         Account         Eric Wieschaus and Christiane Nüsslein-Volhard         1
Tissue and Organ Initiation in the Plant Embryo: A First Time for Everything Joakim Palovaara, Thijs de Zeeuw, and Dolf Weijers
Transcriptional Control of Developmental Cell Behaviors Yelena Bernadskaya and Lionel Christiaen
Genotypes, Networks, Phenotypes: Moving Toward Plant Systems Genetics Takebiko Ogura and Wolfgang Busch
Neurogenesis and Gliogenesis in Nervous System Plasticity and Repair Jonas Frisén
Phosphoinositides in Control of Membrane Dynamics Kay O. Schink, Kia-Wee Tan, and Harald Stenmark
Cytoplasmic Streaming in the <i>Drosophila</i> Oocyte Margot E. Quinlan
Cargo Capture and Bulk Flow in the Early Secretory Pathway Charles Barlowe and Ari Helenius
The Lysosome as a Regulatory Hub      Rushika M. Perera and Roberto Zoncu
TFEB and TFE3: Linking Lysosomes to Cellular Adaptation to Stress      Nina Raben and Rosa Puertollano      255
Endoplasmic Reticulum–Plasma Membrane Associations: Structures and Functions <i>Alessandra Gallo, Christian Vannier, and Thierry Galli</i>
Signaling and Polarized Communication Across the T Cell Immunological Synapse <i>Michael L. Dustin and Kaushik Choudhuri</i>

TCR Signal Strength and T Cell Development Nicholas R.J. Gascoigne, Vasily Rybakin, Oreste Acuto, and Joanna Brzostek
The Cytoophidium and Its Kind: Filamentation and         Compartmentation of Metabolic Enzymes <i>Ji-Long Liu</i>
How Bacteria Subvert Animal Cell Structure and Function Alyssa Jimenez, Didi Chen, and Neal M. Alto
Metabolism and the Control of Cell Fate Decisions and Stem Cell Renewal <i>Kyoko Ito and Keisuke Ito</i>
Cell Competition: Mechanisms and Physiological Roles Cristina Clavería and Miguel Torres
<ul> <li>Functions and Regulation of Programmed Cell Death in Plant</li> <li>Development</li> <li>Anna Daneva, Zhen Gao, Matthias Van Durme, and Moritz K. Nowack</li></ul>
Focal Adhesion–Independent Cell Migration Ewa K. Paluch, Irene M. Aspalter, and Michael Sixt
Plasticity of Cell Migration In Vivo and In Silico Veronika te Boekhorst, Luigi Preziosi, and Peter Friedl
Mechanical Control of Epithelial-to-Mesenchymal Transitions in Development and Cancer <i>Laralynne Przybyla</i> , Jonathon M. Muncie, and Valerie M. Weaver
Cellular and Molecular Mechanisms of MT1-MMP-Dependent Cancer Cell Invasion Antonio Castro-Castro, Valentina Marchesin, Pedro Monteiro, Catalina Lodillinsky, Carine Rossé, and Philippe Chavrier
Structural Perspectives on Axon Guidance Elena Seiradake, E. Yvonne Jones, and Rüdiger Klein
The Role of Adipocytes in Tissue Regeneration and Stem Cell Niches Brett Shook, Guillermo Rivera Gonzalez, Sarah Ebmeier, Gabriella Grisotti, Rachel Zwick, and Valerie Horsley
Hemodynamic Control of Endothelial Cell Fates in Development Guillermo García-Cardeña and Bendix R. Slegtenhorst
Regulation of Hematopoiesis and Osteogenesis by Blood Vessel–Derived Signals Saravana K. Ramasamy, Anjali P. Kusumbe, Tomer Itkin, Shiri Gur-Cohen, Tsvee Lapidot, and Ralf H. Adams

Lymphangiogenesis: Origin, Specification, and Cell Fate Determination	
Noelia Escobedo and Guillermo Oliver	77
Emergence and Evolution of Secondary Lymphoid Organs Harold R. Neely and Martin F. Flajnik	93
Chemical Principles in Tissue Clearing and Staining Protocols for Whole-Body Cell Profiling Kazuki Tainaka, Akihiro Kuno, Shimpei I. Kubota, Tatzya Murakami,	
and Hiroki R. Ueda	13

# Indexes

Cumulative Index of Contributing Authors, Volumes 28–32	743
Cumulative Index of Article Titles, Volumes 28–32	747

## Errata

An online log of corrections to *Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology* articles may be found at http://www.annualreviews.org/errata/cellbio